

US-India Subnational Innovation Competitiveness Index

AMIT KAPOOR, STEPHEN EZELL, MEGHAN OSTERTAG AND SHEEN ZUTSHI I NOVEMBER 2024

For policymakers to bolster the global competitiveness of their nations and regions, they first must know where they stand. This report benchmarks the 87 regions of India and the United States using 13 commonly available indicators of strength in the knowledge economy, globalization, and innovation capacity.

KEY TAKEAWAYS

- The United States claims the top 51 regions, with California, Massachusetts, and Washington ranking in the top three. The top three Indian states are Delhi, Chandigarh, and Tamil Nadu, although they rank below all U.S. states.
- Indian regions excel in globalization indicators, taking top spots in inward FDI and hightech exports. However, most of the FDI into India and most of the high-tech export activity are concentrated in five states.
- Indian regions are behind U.S. regions in most indicators, most notably those related to R&D investment and R&D personnel. This represents a key challenge for India as it tries to develop more-innovative ecosystems. Most of the R&D investment activity conducted in India is performed by the government, not the private sector.
- Regions with lower GDPs per capita consistently rank lower in indicator performance. The U.S. states with the lowest GDPs per capita (West Virginia, Arkansas, and Mississippi) rank in the bottom five states in the United States.
- Policymakers must continue to strengthen U.S.-India relations, focusing on building and strengthening critical and emerging technology and R&D collaboration initiatives, which connect start-ups, universities, and venture capitalists in both countries.
- Indian policymakers must utilize incentives to attract private R&D investment from venture capital funds and public-private partnerships to drive investment in innovation.

CONTENTS

Key Takeaways	1
Introduction	3
The Index	5
Overall Scores and Rankings	6
Index Scoring System	. 10
Knowledge Economy	. 13
Doctoral Degree Recipients	. 13
Employment in STEM Occupations	. 15
Manufacturing Labor Productivity	. 17
Quality of Universities	. 19
Female Educational Attainment	. 21
Employment in R&D Activities	. 23
Globalization	. 26
High-Tech Exports	. 26
Inward FDI	. 28
Innovation Capacity	. 30
Internet Access	. 30
Business Creation	. 32
Active Businesses	. 34
Patent Applications	. 36
R&D Intensity	. 39
Distance to the Frontier	. 42
Science and Technology Clusters	. 48
Policy Recommendations	. 50
United States	. 50
Knowledge Economy	. 50
Globalization	. 50
Innovation Capacity	. 51
India	. 52
Knowledge Economy	. 52
Globalization	. 52
Innovative Capacity	. 53
Conclusion	. 55
Appendices	. 57
Appendix A: Composite and Category Scores Methodology	. 57
Appendix B: Indicator Methodologies and Weights	. 59
Endnotes	. 62

INTRODUCTION

In this report, member think tanks of the Global Trade and Innovation Policy Alliance (GTIPA) analyze the subnational innovation competitiveness of the states and regions of two nations: India and the United States.¹

As per the International Monetary Fund's (IMF's) latest "Asia and Pacific Department Regional Economic Outlook for Asia Pacific," India remains the world's fastest-growing economy, and investment and private consumption drive this growth.² Though India lags behind the United States and accounts for only 3.3 percent of global gross domestic product (GDP), the country possesses several characteristics that will be influential in the coming decades.³ India has one of the world's largest populations of highly educated individuals. Close to 2.5 million students are enrolled in undergraduate engineering degrees in India, and 43.3 million in higher education.⁴

India has set an ambitious goal for its growth trajectory over the next 23 years to aggressively push the nation through its policies toward becoming a developed economy by 2047.⁵ The country is gearing up to play a vital role in global competition strategy in the coming years, especially as fractures between the United States and China continue to widen. As the largest country in the world by population, not only does India present a significant market for exports for the United States, but India is also positioned to be a strong manufacturing and technical ally to the United States. With a robust information technology (IT) services market and strong cultural and political connections, high-growth corporations such as Google, Meta, and Oracle have moved operations to India to work on product development in artificial intelligence (AI), virtual reality, data mining, and much more.⁶ In the 2022–2023 financial year, India ranked as one of the top recipients of foreign direct investment (FDI) in the world, receiving \$70.9 billion in investments, and is targeting a goal of \$100 billion in the near future.⁷ The country has finally been recognized for its potential in advanced manufacturing industries, but it now needs a subnational innovation network to further support its growth.

The "Global Innovation Index (GII) 2024" report reveals notable differences in the innovation landscapes of the United States and India, ranked 3rd and 39th, respectively, among the 133 evaluated economies.⁸ The United States consistently demonstrates a strong and well-established innovation ecosystem characterized by an advanced technological infrastructure, significant investments in research and development (R&D), and a highly skilled workforce. Meanwhile, India has made impressive progress in boosting its innovation capabilities. This is reflected in its first-time entry into the top 40 countries. India has been improving in the GII since its ranking of 81 in 2015. This advancement highlights India's increasing focus on innovation-driven growth and the rise of a dynamic start-up ecosystem.

To fully understand the dynamics of innovation in these countries, it is essential to explore the subnational factors that contribute to their unique landscapes. Regional characteristics, policies, and socioeconomic factors influencing innovation can vary significantly within each country, often leading to a lack of clarity in broader national analyses. For example, California and Massachusetts are recognized as innovation hubs in the United States, where a culture of entrepreneurship thrives and collaboration between academia and industry is strong. In contrast, India's innovation landscape is increasingly shaped by a combination of metropolitan areas and emerging tech hubs, such as Bengaluru and Hyderabad, each with its own distinctive strengths and challenges.

This is why developing a national innovation and competitiveness strategy is so important. For a country to grow into a significant player in the global economy, its capacity to nurture an educated workforce, increase productivity, transfer knowledge, and develop and adopt new, innovative technologies is vital. Understanding these subnational factors is crucial for a comprehensive assessment of innovation capabilities. By exploring specific regional influences, stakeholder interactions, and local policies, we can gain deeper insights into how effective public policy can contribute to national innovation performance. This nuanced perspective can enrich our understanding of national rankings and inform targeted strategies for enhancing innovation ecosystems tailored to the unique contexts of various regions.

The Institute for Competitiveness (IFC) has released three editions of the India Innovation Index. which evaluates the innovative capacity of subnational regions in India. This initiative is in collaboration with NITI Aayog, a public-policy think tank of the government of India. Similar to the U.S.-India Subnational Innovation Competitiveness Index (SICI), this report employs a comprehensive approach to assess innovation based on broader dimensions, with five "enabler" pillars assessing input factors and two "performance" pillars evaluating output factors measured across 70 indicators. The Index ranks regions using a robust methodology and seeks to highlight the opportunities and potential for fostering innovation in each Indian state and union territory. Relevant stakeholders within state governments utilize insights from the Index to formulate policies that promote innovation. The report also aims to encourage the spirit of competitive federalism in India.⁹ In line with the India Innovation Index, the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) has contributed significantly to the literature on this topic with a series of in-depth subnational innovation competitiveness reports, which provide nuanced insights into the intricate relationships between innovation, economic development, and regional competitiveness, offering valuable perspectives for policymakers, businesses, and researchers alike. This series includes reports such as ITIF's "State New Economy Index," which assesses the innovative structures of U.S. states to determine to what extent these structures drive innovation.¹⁰ Additionally, ITIF, in collaboration with GTIPA, produced the Latin American Subnational Innovation Competitiveness Index in 2023, the latest in a series of reports examining the role subnational regions play in domestic and international innovation networks.

This report does not serve as a ranking of innovation between American and Indian states, but rather offers a critical comparison. Significant gaps exist between the most-innovative U.S. states and Indian states and territories, with even the most-innovative Indian region falling behind the least-innovative U.S. state. By examining the strategies undertaken by innovation leaders such as California and Massachusetts, India can develop innovation-driven policy to replicate the factors that have led to these states becoming the forefront of innovation. This study aims to showcase the existing innovation networks in the United States and India, informing U.S. states on ways in which they could improve and informing Indian regions of potential directions that could be taken to overcome innovation gaps and come closer to reaching the frontier of innovation.

THE INDEX

The U.S.-India SICI captures the innovation performance of 87 regions across two countries: India (36 states and territories) and the United States (50 states and the District of Columbia). To simplify the comparative analysis, this report refers to all subnational entities as "regions."

This report considers 13 indicators (which were found to be commonly available across the 87 regions of these two countries) representing the relevant determinants of a thriving innovation ecosystem, grouped into three dimensions:

- **Knowledge Economy.** Indicators measure the number of doctoral degree recipients; the share of employees in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) activities; manufacturing labor productivity; quality of universities; females enrolled in higher education; and the number of R&D personnel.
- **Globalization.** Indicators measure inward FDI flows and high-tech exports.
- Innovation Capacity. Indicators measure household access to the Internet; the number of new business applications; the number of active businesses; patent output; and expenditures on R&D.

The most important dimension of the U.S.-India SICI is innovation capacity, which accounts for 44.42 percent of the Index's weight, while the knowledge capacity indicators account for 44.32 percent of the Index's weight, and the globalization indicators account for the remaining 11.25 percent.

In addition to the indicators used in calculating the Index, this report also analyzes the results of two indicators found incompatible with the analysis: the labor force participation rate (LFPR) of bachelor's degree recipients and emissions intensity. Although these indicators were found to be incompatible, they still provide valuable information regarding a region's innovativeness and competitiveness; thus, insights based on them are included in this report's analysis.

Overall Scores and Rankings

Table 1: U.S. states' performance in the U.S.-India SICI

Overall		Overall	Know	ledge	Global	ization	Innovation		
Rank	State	Score	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	
1	California	64.42	86.06	1	6.19	35	63.95	5	
2	Massachusetts	63.47	75.04	2	10.16	19	70.90	1	
3	Washington	55.43	63.35	3	5.76	37	65.07	3	
4	Delaware	49.48	47.62	23	11.43	34	66.22	2	
5	Wyoming	48.75	46.96	25	16.36	30	64.78	4	
6	Oregon	48.41	47.75	22	3.73	11	60.14	6	
7	District of Columbia	46.88	52.44	13	0.99	70	57.46	7	
8	New Jersey	46.00	54.44	8	9.90	21	50.44	13	
9	Maryland	45.79	56.35	6	1.59	63	51.02	11	
10	Texas	44.94	60.23	5	6.21	14	41.97	28	
11	New Hampshire	44.89	52.39	14	4.77	28	50.66	12	
12	New York	44.83	62.88	4	7.58	51	41.84	30	
13	Connecticut	44.27	49.99	16	5.25	31	51.74	9	
14	Michigan	44.09	53.70	9	5.44	44	48.38	15	
15	Minnesota	43.30	48.90	19	6.96	40	51.07	10	
16	Colorado	42.82	50.49	15	10.31	56	49.26	14	
17	Illinois	42.23	52.84	12	4.82	17	43.17	22	
18	North Carolina	42.18	53.60	10	5.47	39	44.00	20	
19	Pennsylvania	42.03	55.10	7	3.11	47	42.44	23	
20	Utah	41.82	49.64	17	3.47	53	47.64	16	
21	New Mexico	41.64	39.79	39	9.87	22	54.40	8	
22	Indiana	40.32	49.01	18	10.98	15	42.18	26	
23	Florida	40.25	48.19	21	2.91	48	44.97	19	
24	Virginia	39.78	52.98	11	6.55	57	39.95	33	
25	Arizona	39.32	45.32	26	10.16	19	43.69	21	

Overall		Overall	Knowledge		Global	ization	Innovation		
Rank	State	Score	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	
26	Ohio	38.77	47.09	24	6.38	32	41.98	27	
27	Wisconsin	38.05	44.76	28	7.38	25	41.83	31	
28	Georgia	37.64	44.52	29	8.64	33	41.89	29	
29	Idaho	37.39	39.40	42	1.52	55	47.34	17	
30	Rhode Island	37.32	44.99	27	9.10	64	42.39	24	
31	Vermont	36.85	41.30	36	3.13	23	42.22	25	
32	Montana	36.69	40.75	37	2.19	68	45.11	18	
33	Missouri	36.11	42.83	34	3.73	59	41.44	32	
34	North Dakota	36.06	44.02	30	7.39	51	39.67	34	
35	Iowa	35.92	43.99	31	3.25	29	38.11	38	
36	Louisiana	35.50	48.45	20	1.40	66	34.96	47	
37	Kansas	35.20	43.69	32	1.16	54	38.16	37	
38	South Carolina	34.28	39.48	40	2.67	45	39.44	35	
39	Nebraska	34.07	43.35	33	6.09	58	36.09	43	
40	Alabama	33.77	40.57	38	5.06	49	37.41	41	
41	Tennessee	33.68	41.30	35	4.53	36	35.97	44	
42	Oklahoma	33.30	39.41	41	3.95	50	37.64	40	
43	Maine	32.51	37.44	44	1.66	62	38.49	36	
44	Kentucky	32.06	36.88	47	13.08	13	34.04	49	
45	Nevada	31.89	35.36	48	1.16	43	37.77	39	
46	South Dakota	31.62	36.90	46	5.34	68	37.13	42	
47	Mississippi	30.88	35.24	49	0.55	41	35.53	45	
48	Hawaii	30.41	37.02	45	0.89	75	34.45	48	
49	West Virginia	29.37	37.69	43	0.22	73	31.29	52	
50	Alaska	29.18	33.17	51	5.41	80	35.41	46	
51	Arkansas	28.70	33.41	50	1.25	67	33.71	50	

Indian		Overall	Knowledge		Globalization		Innovation	
Rank	Region	Score	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank
1	Delhi	26.32	14.27	61	61.57	1	25.62	53
2	Chandigarh	23.47	19.70	53	5.71	38	33.21	51
3	Tamil Nadu	20.42	27.21	52	26.05	7	11.99	59
4	Maharashtra	18.91	17.70	56	46.16	3	10.64	65
5	Karnataka	18.58	16.02	57	45.66	4	11.65	61
6	Puducherry	16.91	19.22	54	19.69	10	13.75	58
7	Haryana	16.55	11.10	64	34.64	5	15.48	55
8	Goa	16.13	9.23	70	52.27	2	10.19	67
9	Punjab	14.72	14.83	59	7.82	27	17.01	54
10	Himachal Pradesh	14.49	14.97	58	21.71	8	11.53	62
11	Gujarat	12.54	9.83	66	5.41	6	10.08	69
12	Uttarakhand	12.43	13.35	62	27.12	41	13.98	57
13	Uttar Pradesh	11.41	14.31	60	10.42	16	8.99	71
14	Rajasthan	10.50	10.67	65	8.79	24	10.92	64
15	Sikkim	10.31	9.61	67	1.52	64	14.01	56
16	Dadra & Nagar Haveli and Daman & Diu	9.65	7.31	76	21.09	18	11.66	60
17	Telangana	9.45	9.43	68	10.30	9	5.45	80
18	Kerala	9.01	17.70	55	2.17	60	3.08	86
19	Jammu & Kashmir	8.25	8.90	72	14.27	71	10.16	68
20	Madhya Pradesh	8.17	9.00	71	0.96	26	7.43	73
21	West Bengal	8.09	11.22	63	8.04	46	6.17	76
22	Andhra Pradesh	7.85	9.31	69	5.03	12	4.23	84
23	Manipur	6.52	4.20	82	0.00	82	10.99	63
24	Jharkhand	5.61	5.02	81	2.07	61	7.39	74

Table 2: Indian regions'	performance in	n the U.SIndia SICI
--------------------------	----------------	---------------------

			Knowledge		Globali	ization	Innovation	
Indian		Overall						
Rank	Region	Score	Score	Rank	Score	Rank	Score	Rank
25	Ladakh	5.54	2.22	86	0.24	78	10.55	66
26	Arunachal Pradesh	5.45	2.72	83	0.00	82	9.93	70
27	Andaman and Nicobar Islands	5.32	8.83	73	0.00	82	3.82	85
28	Assam	5.25	6.37	78	0.65	81	5.94	78
29	Odisha	5.20	7.70	75	0.19	74	4.38	82
30	Chhattisgarh	5.01	6.35	79	0.26	77	5.37	81
31	Meghalaya	4.79	5.25	80	0.00	82	6.00	77
32	Bihar	4.67	6.42	77	0.00	72	4.30	83
33	Nagaland	4.50	2.37	84	0.92	82	8.08	72
34	Tripura	3.60	1.84	87	0.51	76	6.34	75
35	Mizoram	3.46	2.23	85	0.24	82	5.82	79
36	Lakshadweep	3.41	7.98	74	0.00	78	0.16	87

Index Scoring System

American regions lead in this index of subnational innovation competitiveness, with all 50 states and the District of Columbia ranking higher than any region in India. The United States has far more regional variability in scoring than India does, as seen in figure 1. There is a range of over 40 points between the highest and lowest subnational competitiveness scores in the United States, double that of India.



Figure 1: Maximum, minimum, quartiles, and median overall Index scores¹¹

Regions were sorted into eight innovation competitiveness categories, as shown in table 3: Innovation Leader +, Innovation Leader -, Strong Innovator +, Strong Innovator -, Moderate Innovator +, Moderate Innovator -, Modest Innovator +, And Modest Innovator -, based on a region's position in the Index within each country. We used a structured, percentile-based approach to categorize regions based on their innovation competitiveness. This method allowed us to classify each region within an eight-tier system, reflecting its relative innovation standing within its country.

Group	Performance				
Innovation Leader +	85th to 100th percentile				
Innovation Leader -	70th to 84th percentile				
Strong Innovator +	55th to 69th percentile				
Strong Innovator -	40th to 54th percentile				

Tahlo	з.	Regional	groupings	in	tho	11 9	cibul- 2	SIL
Iavie	J:	Regional	groupings		แย	0.3	oiiiuia	3161

Group	Performance
Moderate Innovator +	25th to 39th percentile
Moderate Innovator -	20th to 24th percentile
Modest Innovator +	15th to 19th percentile
Modest Innovator -	Below the 15th percentile

This categorization was applied separately to each country, allowing us to capture regional innovation performance within each national context rather than make direct cross-country comparisons. As a result, this approach provided a nuanced view of each region's innovation competitiveness and highlighted areas where innovation leadership or growth potential is most prominent within each country. Therefore, the top innovators in the United States and India will be categorized as Innovation Leaders +, then Innovation Leaders -, and so on. The minus sign in the category's name indicates that its regions fall into a lower category than those in the respective category with a positive sign. As the colors of the charts indicate, the categories' ascending order is Modest Innovator, Moderate Innovator, Strong Innovator, And Innovation Leader, which aligns with the ranking methodology of the "European Innovation Scorecard."¹²





The importance of economic prosperity cannot be underscored as a precursor to innovation. Figure 3 shows a strong positive correlation between GDPs per capita and overall index scores, suggesting that regions with higher economic prosperity generally perform better in subnational innovation competitiveness index scores. The differences between U.S. states and Indian regions are stark. Indian states have per capita annual incomes ranging between Bihar (\$419) and Sikkim (\$4,304), placing them at the lower end of the Index score.¹⁴ In contrast, U.S. states' per capita GDPs fall between Mississippi (\$40,667) and Washington, D.C. (\$215,067), signifying a vast difference in the countries' per capita incomes.¹⁵ This difference translates to U.S. regions having 10 to 60 times higher GDP per capita than Indian states. There is a strong positive correlation between GDPs per capita and Index score in this model, with a 1 percent increase in GDP per capita leading to an 8.07 increase in score. The United States and India are not playing on an even playing field when it comes to innovation, which underscores the fact that this, again, is not a comparative study between the two nations, but a side-by-side ranking of subnational innovativeness within the two nations. Conclusions drawn about the most innovative states in the United States can guide both Indian and U.S. states on a path toward building stronger innovation ecosystems.





KNOWLEDGE ECONOMY

Doctoral Degree Recipients

Why is this important? This indicator measures the total number of people in the region who have earned a doctoral degree. Doctoral programs are designed to produce highly skilled researchers, an investment in human capital for knowledge creation. Recipients of doctorate degrees go on to teach in universities, inform politics, and become scientists, engineers, researchers, and scholars who lead in creating an innovation ecosystem.¹⁷ The analytical scope of this indicator is constrained, as it measures doctoral degrees in absolute numbers at subnational levels. In contrast, the other indicators presented in this report are normalized relative to population size or economic output. As a result, regions with larger populations are more likely to produce more doctoral recipients. Regions that enable thriving knowledge ecosystems depend largely on universities to conduct advanced R&D and require a sufficient pool of highly educated individuals to drive innovation and sustain higher productivity levels. Therefore, eventually, these doctoral recipients' quality further drives the regional knowledge economy's strengths.



Figure 4: Total doctoral degree recipients, 2022¹⁸

Densely populated Uttar Pradesh (3,353) leads India, followed by Karnataka (2,914) and Tamil Nadu (2,854). Several Indian regions fall to the bottom of the list with no doctoral degree recipients due to a lack of higher education institutions. This includes union territories such as Dadra and Nagar Haveli and Daman and Diu; Ladakh; and Lakshadweep.

Doctoral degree recipients in regions within the United States demonstrate extreme variability, ranging from less than 50 to over 6,700. The states with the most-significant number of universities placed unsurprisingly high in the rankings, while less highly educated and less-populated states perform worse. Innovation leaders such as California (6,817), Texas (4,381),

and New York (4,163) lead the regions, while rural states such as Vermont (70) and Alaska (35) lag significantly behind.

Unlike in subnational regions of India, significant regional disparities exist among U.S. states. Most states cluster within a similar range of PhD recipients, as illustrated in figure 4. California, Texas, and New York are positive outliers, with substantially higher numbers. This disparity has important implications for both countries. For the United States, the concentration of PhD recipients in a few states suggests that innovation and research capabilities are heavily localized in these regions. The high number of PhD recipients in these states further enables them to attract more funding, investment, and partnerships with academic and research institutions, reinforcing their status as innovation hubs. Moreover, it should be noted that nearly half of all doctoral degrees in the United States were awarded to immigrants in 2022.¹⁹

In India, the concentration of PhD recipients is driven in select states due to varying levels of investment in higher education infrastructure, funding opportunities, and research facilities across states. Therefore, states must focus on building robust education ecosystems that provide an environment conducive to accessing advanced research, especially in the regions that are lagging behind. Addressing these disparities is important for regions to enhance their research output.





Employment in STEM Occupations

Why is this important? This indicator measures the share of employees working in STEM occupations in each region. This includes, for example, engineers, researchers, and computer scientists. STEM jobs represent a vital component of R&D in all fields, and are essential to increasing productivity in all industries. The number of occupations in STEM fields has grown rapidly over the past several decades, and increasing demand for these jobs continues to be driven by globalization and automation. STEM jobs are expected to grow two times faster than all other occupations through 2029 in the United States.²¹



Figure 6: Share of workers employed in STEM occupations, 2021²²

India has the world's highest number of STEM graduates, which showcases a robust potential workforce with specialized skills. As per All India Survey on Higher Education (AISHE) data, female STEM graduates accounted for 42.6 percent of the total STEM graduates in the 2021–2022 academic year, which is an encouraging sign of progress toward gender parity in Indian education. However, translating this educational success into actual workforce participation remains a challenge.²³

Despite producing a large number of STEM graduates, India's labor market does not fully utilize this talent. Data from the Periodic Labour Force Survey (PLFS) indicates that regions such as Puducherry and Chandigarh have the highest proportions of the STEM workforce, with 10.6 percent and 9.2 percent, respectively. However, these figures are still lower than the percentage of STEM employment in the United States. Despite being urbanized and economically advanced, Delhi, India's capital, has a surprisingly low STEM workforce engagement rate of just 2.2 percent. This highlights a disconnect between educational achievements and labor market integration.

At least 12 out of 36 states in India have a STEM workforce of less than 2 percent, which further underscores the existing gaps in the current workforce. By addressing the barriers that prevent these individuals from entering the workforce, India can harness this potential and make strides toward a more inclusive and innovative future.

U.S. states exhibit little diversity in the share of people employed in STEM occupations. Technology hubs or states with large high-tech manufacturing sectors, such as New Hampshire (27.8 percent) and Washington (27 percent), lead the United States. Hawaii and Nevada, service economies, and Washington, D.C. round out the United States with 21.2 percent, 20.3 percent, and 20.2 percent, respectively. California, a hub for innovation, science, and engineering, falls near the bottom of the list for U.S. states, with 23.3 percent of its workforce employed in STEM occupations.

India has no shortage of eligible STEM employees; however, the deficit comes in the number of STEM professionals actually in the workforce. India can only increase its STEM employment by attracting innovative and growing multinational firms. By attracting these firms, regions can become hubs for industries dense in STEM positions, and other firms will be attracted to or created in these regions. For Instance, in New Hampshire, incentives have attracted STEM-intensive firms to the state. A key example of one such incentive is the Build Back Better Regional Challenge. As a winner of this challenge, New Hampshire earned \$1 billion to grow its bio-fabrication cluster, a small biotechnology subsector, which is poised to experience an increase in jobs and funding due to this award. In addition to this grant, New Hampshire has attracted other large biotechnology firms, such as Pfizer and Merck, with its low taxes and strong technology workforce.²⁴

Local, regional, and national governments in India should create financial incentives for cities and regions looking to develop regional clusters with the intent to attract more STEM jobs. By leveraging strong corporate incentives and their highly educated workforces, leading Indian states can begin to bring the share of workers employed in STEM occupations closer to that of U.S. states.



Figure 7: Performance in employment in STEM occupations (highest-performing regions in darker shades)²⁵

Manufacturing Labor Productivity

Why is this important? Gross value added (GVA) measures the contribution to GDP made by an individual producer, industry, or sector. This indicator measures the average GVA per manufacturing worker on a purchasing power parity (PPP) basis. Within manufacturing, high-value-added firms are most often capital intensive, producing more technologically complex products and organizing their workers to take better advantage of their skills. They typically pay higher wages because their workers are more productive, generating greater value for each hour worked. All else being equal, firms with higher value-added levels are more likely to be able to meet global competitiveness challenges. Unfortunately, U.S. manufacturing labor productivity has declined for over a decade, shockingly falling 5 percent between 2014 and 2023.²⁶



Figure 8: GVA in manufacturing per employee, 2020 (PPP-converted U.S. dollars)²⁷

U.S. regions leading in manufacturing GVA show minimal similarity, with states such as Louisiana (\$298,374), Wyoming (\$261,049), and Texas (\$239,329) among higher-tech regions such as California (\$277,144) and Massachusetts (\$233,439). This data is partially skewed due to the prevalence of costly energy commodities such as oil and gas in Louisiana, Wyoming, and Texas. Manufacturing hubs such as Indiana, Michigan, and Ohio fall in the middle of U.S. state rankings, while tourism-driven Hawaii (\$108,418) and less-industrial South Dakota (\$103,130) and Alaska (\$100,671) fall behind the rest of the U.S. states.

In India, Sikkim and Odisha are the leaders in manufacturing productivity, boasting GVA per employee figures of \$62,098 and \$41,901, respectively. These states significantly outperform others in the country, where most regions report productivity levels ranging from \$9,000 to \$20,000 per employee. In stark contrast, Manipur (\$2,333) and Tripura (\$2,197) rank as the lowest among Indian states with available data, highlighting a substantial productivity gap in these areas. It's important to note that, despite their high productivity, Sikkim and Odisha

contribute to only around 5 percent of India's manufacturing GVA. The majority of the country's manufacturing GVA—over 50 percent—is driven by states such as Maharashtra, Gujarat, Tamil Nadu, and Karnataka.

Though India has experienced growth in overall productivity in recent years, manufacturing GVA has struggled to keep pace with the growth of service industries. Manufacturing in India as a share of total GVA has been declining for years, with the industry accounting for 14.7 percent in 2022–2023, the lowest since 1968–1969.²⁸ For states lagging behind in manufacturing GVA, it is imperative that they increase their GVA; regions must attract high-value industries, such as in vehicle production, pharmaceuticals, chemicals, and electronics. Though the most productive states in the United States are all fossil fuel reliant, behind those states are technology hubs such as Massachusetts and California. Like STEM employment, regions must utilize incentives, tax breaks, and the potential for a robust and highly educated workforce to attract high-value firms, which can increase GVA for Indian regions.



Figure 9: Performance in manufacturing labor productivity (highest-performing regions in darker shades)²⁹

Quality of Universities

Why is this important? This indicator measures U.S. states' and Indian regions' respective shares of the top 100 universities in each country. Universities are pivotal in fueling innovation through their investments in research, with universities in the United States producing most of the country's non-product-related basic research. Universities are also strong producers of human capital, with highly educated individuals having a greater chance of excelling and innovating in their careers.



Figure 10: Share of top 100 universities in each country, 2023³⁰

Tamil Nadu, India, has the highest number of top-ranked universities, totaling 18. Other Indian states, such as Maharashtra and Uttar Pradesh, also host many highly ranked universities. However, 14 states did not secure a place in India's National Institute Ranking Framework's (NIRF's) top 100 universities ranking. (NIRF is a yearly ranking system used by the Indian government to evaluate higher education institutions.)

Most U.S. states have at least one top university. California leads the United States, followed by New York and Massachusetts, all with large, highly educated populations. Among U.S. states, 23 have two or more top universities, and 13 have just 1. States with top universities range widely in characteristics, with industrial states such as Pennsylvania (6), rural states such as lowa (2), and technology hubs such as Washington (2) all containing multiple highly ranked universities.

Data on the U.S. and Indian universities was sourced from two different ranking sites: QS and NIRF. The QS World University Rankings is one of the most well-known ranking systems, analyzing over 1,500 schools from 105 higher education systems. This ranking system was used for the United States due to the absence of a state-sponsored national ranking system. As noted,

Indian ranking data was taken from NIRF. Both sources are reputable, but the difference in sources and methodology in the rankings is noteworthy.





Female Educational Attainment

Why is this important? This indicator measures the percentage of all females enrolled in higher education. As previously stated, higher education is a valuable indicator of human capital, with college graduates 24 percent more likely to be employed than are non-college-educated peers.³² The full participation of women in the workforce leads to the introduction of new skills and knowledge and an expansion of the available workforce. Educated women drive economic growth and contribute to a more robust and innovative economy.³³



Figure 12: Females enrolled in higher education as a share of all females, 2023³⁴

There exists a significant spread in the educational attainment of females in India across regions. Chandigarh has the highest rate of female educational attainment, with 7.1 percent of females enrolling in higher education. Behind Chandigarh, another outlier in India is Puducherry, where 6.5 percent of females are enrolled in higher education. States such as Nagaland (0.4 percent) and Bihar (0.2 percent) have the lowest educational attainment rates for women. Unlike the United States, Nagaland and Bihar both have very high LFPRs with a bachelor's degree—higher than almost all U.S. states—demonstrating that the poor rate of female educational attainment is likely a function of gender disparities.

In the United States, females now make up the majority of students in higher educational institutions.³⁵ However, female college enrollment levels vary significantly between states, with more progressive regions such as Washington, D.C. (9.7 percent), Rhode Island (8.9 percent), and Massachusetts (8.4 percent) having the highest rates of female higher education participation. There is not a tremendously significant spread between the highest- and lowest-ranking states regarding female educational attainment, with rural Alaska (5.6 percent) and West Virginia (5.6 percent) falling to the bottom of the list. Rural regions in the United States have lower educational attainment rates for both men and women, with Alaska and West Virginia

having a lower LFPR with a bachelor's degree, meaning the low female educational attainment is not necessarily a function of gender disparities.





Employment in R&D Activities

Why is this important? This indicator measures the number of R&D personnel as a share of all employees in a region. R&D personnel are indispensable to conducting R&D activities and turning investments into new productivity-enhancing knowledge and technologies. U.S. data on R&D personnel is from 2021, and India's data is from 2022 to 2023.



Figure 14: R&D personnel as a share of all employees, 2021–2022³⁷

U.S. states with the highest rates of R&D personnel are those with large technology and innovation centers and large highly educated populations. Washington (21 percent), Massachusetts (18.4 percent), and California (17.2 percent) lead the list. There is a significant gap between the states with the largest proportion of R&D personnel and the smallest, with 18 percentage points separating Washington from Mississippi, the state with the smallest R&D workforce (2.3 percent). Kentucky (2.6 percent) and Arkansas (2.4 percent) also fall to the bottom of the list.

On the other hand, the workforce engaged in R&D constitutes a minimal portion of the total workforce in India. This situation both reflects and indicates the limited R&D activity in the country. Across all Indian states, including those with higher rates of STEM employment or greater R&D intensity, less than 1 percent of the workforce is dedicated to R&D personnel. Uttarakhand, one of the fastest-growing states in India, has the highest percentage of its workforce dedicated to R&D, at 0.06 percent. The Andaman and Nicobar Islands and Delhi also have 0.06 percent of their total workforce employed in R&D.





Highly Educated Population

Why is this important? This indicator measures the LFPR of workers who have earned at least a four-year undergraduate degree or equivalent. Higher education gives citizens the skills and knowledge necessary to compete and innovate in the modern economy. While more time spent in school does not necessarily guarantee sufficient applied skills to compete in the modern global innovation economy—for example, the Council for Aid to Education found that 44 percent of current U.S. university graduates are not proficient in essential career skills—the proportion of highly educated residents remains a strong indicator of human capital.³⁹ Moreover, evidence suggests that more-educated individuals are more likely and willing to adopt new technological innovations.⁴⁰ LFPR with a bachelor's degree was found to be statistically incompatible in this analysis through exploratory factor analysis, so the Index scores do not include this indicator. However, the LFPR of workers with a bachelor's degree still provides valuable insights into a region's human capital.





Indian regions rank highly in LFPR with a bachelor's degree, with a participation rate greater than 50 percent in all regions. Remote and union territories regions rank highest, with the Andaman and Nicobar Islands (88.9 percent) and Lakshadweep (87.3 percent) leading the country. In contrast, Uttar Pradesh (54 percent), Haryana (53.8 percent), and Delhi (52.6 percent), regions with large urban centers, have the lowest rates of LFPR.

In the United States, the District of Columbia leads the country with an LFPR for people with bachelor's degrees of 65 percent. It is far and away an outlier in the United States, with the next-closest states being Massachusetts (47.3 percent) and New Jersey (44.1 percent). Rural states have the lowest LFPR in the country, with West Virginia (25.4 percent), Nevada (24.9 percent), and Mississippi (24.4 percent) falling to the bottom of the list.

GLOBALIZATION

High-Tech Exports

Why is this important? This indicator measures a region's exports in the machinery manufacturing; computer and electronic products manufacturing; and electrical equipment, appliances, and components manufacturing industries (North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes 333–335 or equivalent) as a share of GDP. These represent high-value-added goods that are crucial in the modern global economy. In a drive to derisk supply chain vulnerabilities, the United States and other comparable economies have pushed to reshore the production of these goods domestically and to partner nations, such as India. A region's exports of these goods as a share of GDP show to what extent a region has a comparative advantage in high-tech production and exports. The production of these goods requires a more significant proportion of highly skilled workers and automation, both signs of economic advancement. Moreover, this indicator represents a region's position in global value chains when producing these goods. U.S. high-tech export data comes from 2022, and Indian data is from 2023.



Figure 17: High-tech exports (NAICS 333–335) as a share of GDP, 2022–2023⁴²

High-tech exports in Indian regions vary widely, with the state of Goa exporting far more than any other region. Goa's share in high-tech exports relative to its GDP was the highest, at 21.3 percent. Most states have less than a 10 percent share of high-tech exports in their GDP. Himachal Pradesh is the second-largest exporter, at 8.6 percent. Several regions (Arunachal Pradesh, Mizoram, and Andaman and Nicobar Islands) exported no high-tech goods during the year.

The United States has a few states that excel in exporting high-tech goods, with Oregon and its large technology sector leading (6.6 percent). Texas (4 percent), also a state with a sizeable

high-tech sector, has the second-largest share of high-tech exports. Most U.S. states export less than 2 percent of their GDP in high-tech goods, with Washington, D.C. (0.1 percent), Alaska (0.1 percent), and Hawaii (0.03 percent) exporting little to no high-tech goods. These states, which rely on services and oil, have a significant gap to close.





Inward FDI

Why is this important? This indicator measures the inward FDI a region receives relative to its GDP, measured as the funds an entity in the region attracts from foreign-based entities to acquire, establish, or expand enterprises. Inward FDI spurs domestic economic activity and facilitates technology transfer between foreign-owned enterprises and local establishments. Foreign owners can also introduce domestic firms to new international technologies and new markets to help regions forge positions in global supply chains. Inward FDI has also been associated with greater economic growth, which has significantly impacted technological innovation.⁴⁴



Figure 19: Inward FDI flow as a share of GDP, 2017–2023⁴⁵

Significant variation exists in the amount of FDI received by Indian regions, with the capital Delhi (10.1 percent) earning far more than the next-closest region, Karnataka (6.8 percent), as a share of GDP. Several other states receive over 2 percent of their GDP in FDI, including Maharashtra (5.8 percent), Haryana (3.7 percent), and Gujarat (2.7 percent). Like the United States, many Indian states also receive a very small amount of inward FDI, most of which are rural or remote regions. FDI inflow into India is both highly variable and significantly concentrated. As per the FDI data maintained by India's Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIT) since 2020, the top five regions attract 87 percent of the total FDI in the country, leaving just 13 percent for the remaining 31 regions. As a result, even regions that seem to draw considerable investment, such as Rajasthan, receive only 2 percent of the total FDI in India.

Due to large variability in the data and a lack of disclosed information from the Bureau of Economic Analysis, FDI data from the United States ranges from 2017 to 2023. In the United

States, there is very little variability in the amount of FDI earned by states, with a range of 1.6 percentage points separating the leaders from the bottom. Kentucky (1.6 percent of GDP) and New Jersey (1.5 percent) receive the most inward FDI, with other manufacturing hubs such as Indiana, Illinois, and Arizona also falling near the top of the list (1.3, 1.0, and 0.9 percent, respectively). Thirteen U.S. states receive an infinitesimally small amount of FDI, including Alaska, Arkansas, and New Hampshire.

FDI to India is vital to growing innovative industries. In the United States, states have attracted investment by incentivizing companies, increasing research, and directing regions toward cluster economies.⁴⁶ Kentucky, the U.S. state that has attracted the greatest FDI relative to its size, has nearly 740 international companies in the state. Corporations such as Toyota and Advanced Nano Products have built factories and fabrication facilities in Kentucky, largely due to its central location within the United States and the ease of doing business there. Additionally, Kentucky has built up a reputation as a reliable manufacturing state in automobiles and metals, drawing in other international companies to that sector.

India has had little trouble attracting FDI to the country as a whole, with sectors such as telecoms and IT helping to make it the eighth-largest recipient of FDI internationally in the 2022–2023 financial year. However, more than just five regions should benefit from these international investments. For Indian states that are attracting little FDI, developing a welcoming business environment and a cluster economy is key. Just as how Kentucky has found its niche in metal and automobile manufacturing, Indian states that wish to attract more foreign industries must also find their niche in an industry and develop market rules that incentivize international firms to join.⁴⁷



Figure 20: Performance in inward FDI (highest-performing regions in darker shades)⁴⁸

INNOVATION CAPACITY

Internet Access

Why is this important? This indicator measures the share of households in a region with Internet access, including households not subscribed to the Internet but that still have access. The Internet is an essential good for prosperity, productivity, health, and economic mobility and is now vital to full participation in today's increasingly digitalized global economy. The COVID-19 pandemic vividly demonstrated how crucial widespread Internet adoption is to societies, enabling telework, tele-education, telehealth, etc. Access to the Internet increases access to employment and access to information, and thus leads to economic growth.⁴⁹ Indian data is from 2021, while the U.S. data is from 2022.



Figure 21: Percentage of households with access to the Internet, 2021–2022⁵⁰

In India, Chandigarh has the highest percentage of the population with access to the Internet, at 91 percent. It is followed by Delhi and Sikkim, where around 79 percent of households have access to Internet facilities. Most regions in India have Internet access rates ranging from 43 to 66 percent. However, areas such as Kerala (27 percent) and Lakshadweep (20 percent) indicate that there is significant room for improvement in digital infrastructure.

Access to Internet in the United States is a given in most states, with at least 87 percent of the population in every state having access to the vital technology. Utah, New Hampshire, and Washington have the greatest Internet distribution, with 97, 96, and 96 percent, respectively, of the population with access. These three states also have significant tech and information sectors. The states with the weakest rollout of Internet, Arkansas (89 percent), Louisiana (89 percent), and Mississippi (87 percent), are all located in the southeastern United States and have small tech sectors, as well as some of the weakest LFPR for individuals with bachelor's degrees.



Figure 22: Performance in Internet access (highest-performing regions in darker shades)⁵¹

Business Creation

Why is this important? This indicator measures the number of new business applications in the past year per \$million of regional GDP. A thriving business ecosystem should experience a high volume of business start-ups. The business creation indicator is limited in scope to new business applications without capturing business turnover resulting from the market disruption and creative destruction that forces incumbents to innovate or leave the market. Thus, the full impact of business competition on innovation is not captured. Moreover, this metric does not make a distinction between industries, so there is no differentiation between the creation rates of startups in advanced, innovative industries and new businesses in less-advanced industries. Data restrictions at the cross-national regional level leave new business applications the most sufficient indicator to reflect the ease of starting a business and the health of the business ecosystem in regions. While stronger entrepreneurship indicators may exist in the United States, this indicator was chosen to permit comparability with available Indian data.



Figure 23: Number of new business applications per \$million of regional GDP, 2023⁵²

India exhibits limited business creation, even in its most economically advanced regions. Among states, Delhi and Karnataka lead in new business applications as a share of GDP, yet even these regions display only moderate entrepreneurial activity. In contrast, many regions report nearly zero new business applications per million dollars of GDP, highlighting significant untapped potential for growth in business creation across the country.

In the United States, Wyoming (1.19) has the most new business applications as a share of GDP, followed by Delaware (0.61) and Florida (0.46). North Dakota (0.12), Massachusetts (0.11), and D.C. (0.08), on the other hand, show room for improvement in this area.





Active Businesses

Why is this important? This indicator measures the number of active businesses in a region per million inhabitants. Like the number of new businesses, active businesses reflect the ease of starting and maintaining business operations. This indicator also captures the economic wellbeing and innovativeness of a region, as regions with strong business environments and high consumption cultivate markets that demand R&D to innovate products. Also, like business creation, this indicator does not distinguish between highly advanced industries and less-advanced industries, thus making it limited in scope.



Figure 25: Active businesses per million inhabitants, 2022⁵⁴

In India, Delhi (13,449) and Chandigarh (7,660), two union territories with strong business ecosystems, lead the country with the most active businesses, while northeastern and lesser-populated regions fall behind in this measure. Mizoram (195), Nagaland (21), and Sikkim (2) have significant room to improve. To enhance business activity in Indian states, particularly in the northeastern region and eastern regions such as Bihar, which have fewer than 350 active businesses per million inhabitants, targeted support initiatives such as skill development programs, improved infrastructure, and financial incentives for entrepreneurs are essential. By fostering a more conducive environment for business growth in these regions, states can promote balanced economic development and unlock the potential of their lesser-populated regions.

Wyoming has the most active businesses per million inhabitants (39,881), followed by Montana (37,417) and Washington, D.C. (35,582). Both Wyoming and Montana are sparsely populated states with large tourism sectors, while D.C. is just a single city with a large tourism sector as well. Other lesser-populated states, such as Vermont (32,248) and North and South Dakota (32,222 and 31,716, respectively), fall near the top of the list, while Mississippi (20,575) and West Virginia (20,028) have room to improve in maintaining a successful business environment.



Figure 26: Performance in active businesses (highest-performing regions in darker shades)⁵⁵

Patent Applications

Why is this important? This indicator measures international Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) patent applications filed by residents or entities within a region per one million residents. Patent output measures the "inventiveness" of a population. Patents also secure private returns on investment in R&D activities, which are necessary to incentivize these activities and their socially desirable spillover effects. By considering PCT patents, this indicator focuses on internationally filed patents to mitigate differences in patent qualifications between countries' patent offices. Data limitations originating from the United States present challenges in assessing this indicator, particularly given the termination of its state-level PCT patent series in 2015. To encapsulate the recent surge in patent activity within India, the latest available figures reflect patent applications from that country for the year 2021.⁵⁶



Figure 27: PCT patent applications per million inhabitants, 2015 and 2021⁵⁷
Chandigarh was the leader among Indian regions for the most patent applications, with 330 applications per million people. The next-closest region, Delhi (100), had less than one-third of Chandigarh's applications. Nagaland (3), the Andaman and Nicobar Islands (3), and Bihar (1) all have a way to go to catch up to the top regions in India.

States with strong technology industries in the United States lead the way in having the most patent applications. Massachusetts (502) had the most applications in 2015, followed by California (380) and Oregon (376). States dependent on fossil fuel energy and rural states with small technology sectors fell to the bottom of the list. West Virginia (24), Mississippi (20), and Alaska (12) were the three states with the lowest applications sent to the PCT.

Massachusetts's soaring lead in patent output is driven by Boston and Cambridge, cities that have made concerted efforts to make themselves innovation hubs. Boston and Cambridge have benefitted from the high-quality research institutes in and around the cities, such as the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Harvard, and Boston University. These universities have organically become centers of an innovation triple helix, attracting government research funding, which attracts R&D firms, which attract private venture capital investment. These universities have made themselves the center of innovation hubs and have made the areas they are located magnets for innovative firms. However, Boston has also undertaken policies to turn other, newer areas of the city into innovation hubs, areas that do not have research universities at their core but instead rely on public-private partnerships within the city to build innovation.⁵⁸

In 2010, Boston began building the "Innovation District," a development project meant to build and attract innovation clusters through private sector funding, physical proximity, and public sector support. Unlike Cambridge, which has cemented itself as a biotechnology hub, the Innovation District was built to be industry agnostic, allowing self-identifying innovative firms to decide whether to move there. The district was also created with proximity in mind, placing restaurants and apartments near firms and maintaining the area's "Work, Live, Play" motto; the idea being that proximity increases socialization and networking, creating more innovation.⁵⁹ With support from Boston mayor Thomas Menino, quality infrastructure, and a powerful regional knowledge base, the now-booming Boston Innovation District has become the state's most prominent hub of venture capital funding, with more than 200 technology, life science, and other companies in the region.⁶⁰

India's highest-performing patent output regions can learn from Boston's Innovation District model. With its already high human capital accumulation and large STEM employee workforce, union territory Chandigarh has produced far more patents than other Indian states and as much as the leading U.S. states. However, to bridge the gap between Chandigarh and Massachusetts, Indian policymakers must consider how to make Chandigarh a more attractive location for private investment in research. Considering the shortage of private R&D conducted in India, Chandigarh's regional government should incentivize private firms to conduct research through investment tax credits or grants. Private sector investment will lead to increased research conducted in the region and an increase in patent output, bringing Chandigarh closer to Massachusetts.



Figure 28: Performance in patent applications (highest-performing regions in darker shades)⁶¹

R&D Intensity

Why is this important? This indicator measures R&D expenditures in a region relative to its GDP considering R&D expenditures by all sectors: business, government, and higher education. R&D lies at the heart of innovation, as it represents the source of the new knowledge needed to discover, design, and implement innovative technologies and products. R&D results in slightly higher private returns and much larger societal returns than other types of investment, as new knowledge and technology spill over to the rest of the economy.⁶²



Figure 29: R&D expenditures as a share of GDP, 2021⁶³

In India, there is very little variability for this indicator, with all regions investing less than 0.5 percent of their GDP on R&D. Jammu and Kashmir (0.4 percent) and Punjab (0.2 percent) lead Indian regions with the highest investment in R&D. At the same time, 12 states invest virtually nothing in R&D. These states include relatively innovative regions in India, such as Chandigarh, Goa, and Puducherry.

There exists large variability in R&D intensity across regions in the United States, with, unsurprisingly, states with large technology industries investing the most in research. New Mexico (8.7 percent) has the highest R&D intensity out of all states, followed by Massachusetts (8.1 percent) and Washington (7.8 percent). Wyoming (0.6 percent), Louisiana (0.6 percent), and South Dakota (0.6 percent) invest the least in research.

The difference between the region with the greatest R&D intensity in the United States (New Mexico) and in India (Jammu and Kashmir) is startling. With 8.7 percentage points separating them, it can be said that Jammu and Kashmir invest an insignificant amount of money in research. Very little research is conducted in India by the private sector, which is the complete opposite of the United States, where 78 percent of R&D expenditures come from it.⁶⁴ In New

Mexico, a history of R&D has been developed in the state, with strong public support and initiation from public universities such as the University of New Mexico and federally funded labs, such as the Los Alamos National Laboratory. Federal funding for research at public institutions has also made New Mexico a location for private firms with a desire to be nearer to cutting-edge research. New Mexico's state government has further incentivized start-up growth through incubator and accelerator programs, which help to mentor and connect firms in order to increase rates of business survival. The venture capital environment in New Mexico also provides a strong support system for start-up firms, attracting research-heavy companies to the state.⁶⁵

For Jammu and Kashmir and all other Indian states to close the gap and begin investing comparable amounts of GDP in research, India must incentivize private firms to get involved in the budding innovation ecosystem in India. Building innovation systems around existing technology hubs will invite private firms and venture capital to the country.



Figure 30: Performance in R&D intensity (highest-performing regions in darker shades)⁶⁶

Emissions Intensity

Why is this important? As the world endeavors to combat climate change, decarbonization is of paramount importance. Regions' ability to innovate sustainably to achieve a reduction in and the efficient use of carbon and other greenhouse gases will determine their long-term competitiveness, as well as their national economic prosperity. This indicator measures metric tons of carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions per unit of output (as measured by PPP-adjusted million dollars of real GDP). While more-developed regions may have a slight advantage in this indicator due to their more service-oriented economies, it must also be recognized that economic growth has historically been correlated with increased emissions. As policymakers look to improve efficiency and reduce overall emissions, they will take their lead from the regions that are devising new solutions and innovative technologies. Though emissions intensity is not included in the Index calculations, the indicator provides valuable insights into the innovativeness of green technology in a region.





Urban hubs are home to the highest emissions intensities in India, with Sikkim (99.9) and Delhi (99.7) leading the nation in the highest emissions per million dollars of GDP. The region of Mizoram, which is known for its slash-and-burn farming economy, ranks third (99.3). Jharkhand (41.7) and Chhattisgarh (0) have the lowest emissions intensities in the country, while the regions of Dadra and Nagar Haveli and Daman and Diu, Ladakh, and Lakshadweep have no data.

DISTANCE TO THE FRONTIER

The distance to the frontier (DTF) analysis offers insights into the drivers of innovative competitiveness by quantifying how far each state is from the leading innovator, California (whose score is 64.42). For instance, Massachusetts ranks second with an overall index of 63.47, so its DTF is 0.95. (See table 4). In contrast, Delhi's overall score on the index is 26.32, ranking it 51st. A lower DTF indicates a closer proximity to the leading innovator.

Country	Region	DTF
United States	Massachusetts	0.95
United States	Washington	8.99
United States	Delaware	14.95
United States	Wyoming	15.67
United States	Oregon	16.01
United States	District of Columbia	17.55
United States	New Jersey	18.43
United States	Maryland	18.63
United States	Texas	19.48
United States	New Hampshire	19.53
United States	New York	19.60
United States	Connecticut	20.15
United States	Michigan	20.33
United States	Minnesota	21.12
United States	Colorado	21.60
United States	Illinois	22.19
United States	North Carolina	22.24
United States	Pennsylvania	22.40
United States	Utah	22.60
United States	New Mexico	22.78
United States	Indiana	24.11
United States	Florida	24.17

Table 4: DTF performance

Country	Region	DTF
United States	Virginia	24.65
United States	Arizona	25.10
United States	Ohio	25.66
United States	Wisconsin	26.37
United States	Georgia	26.79
United States	Idaho	27.03
United States	Rhode Island	27.11
United States	Vermont	27.57
United States	Montana	27.74
United States	Missouri	28.32
United States	North Dakota	28.36
United States	Iowa	28.50
United States	Louisiana	28.92
United States	Kansas	29.23
United States	South Carolina	30.14
United States	Nebraska	30.35
United States	Alabama	30.65
United States	Tennessee	30.74
United States	Oklahoma	31.12
United States	Maine	31.91
United States	Kentucky	32.36
United States	Nevada	32.53
United States	South Dakota	32.80
United States	Mississippi	33.55
United States	Hawaii	34.01
United States	West Virginia	35.06
United States	Alaska	35.24
United States	Arkansas	35.72

Country	Region	DTF
India	Delhi	38.10
India	Chandigarh	40.96
India	Tamil Nadu	44.01
India	Maharashtra	45.51
India	Karnataka	45.84
India	Puducherry	47.51
India	Haryana	47.88
India	Goa	48.30
India	Punjab	49.70
India	Himachal Pradesh	49.94
India	Gujarat	51.88
India	Uttarakhand	52.00
India	Uttar Pradesh	53.01
India	Rajasthan	53.93
India	Sikkim	54.12
India	Dadra & Nagar Haveli and Daman & Diu	54.77
India	Telangana	54.97
India	Kerala	55.42
India	Jammu & Kashmir	56.17
India	Madhya Pradesh	56.25
India	West Bengal	56.33
India	Andhra Pradesh	56.58
India	Manipur	57.90
India	Jharkhand	58.82
India	Ladakh	58.88
India	Arunachal Pradesh	58.98
India	Andaman and Nicobar Islands	59.10

Country	Region	DTF
India	Assam	59.17
India	Odisha	59.23
India	Chhattisgarh	59.42
India	Meghalaya	59.64
India	Bihar	59.75
India	Nagaland	59.93
India	Tripura	60.83
India	Mizoram	60.97
India	Lakshadweep	61.01

U.S. states exhibit robust and consistent performance in innovative competitiveness, clustering closer to the frontier. Massachusetts is only 0.95 points behind California, indicating nearly equivalent competitiveness in their innovative ecosystems. Similarly, Washington (third) and Delaware (fourth) fall behind the frontier by only 8.99 and 14.95 points, respectively, indicating strong innovation ecosystems but with varying degrees of strength. Even the lowest-performing U.S. state, Arkansas, has a DTF of 35.72 points, suggesting that despite inter-state disparities, U.S. states remain generally competitive and closer to the innovation frontier, underscoring their overall strength in innovation.

Indian states have substantially greater gaps from the innovation frontier, with Delhi, the most innovative Indian region, showing a 38.10-point difference from California, exceeding the gap of the least innovative U.S. state. This trend continues with Chandigarh and Tamil Nadu reflecting a significant gap in innovative ecosystems and capacities, highlighting the areas that need improvement. Most of the northeastern and eastern states, such as Arunachal Pradesh, Bihar, and Mizoram, have a 58- to 61-point gap to California, revealing a critical divide in innovation readiness.

The DTF analysis reveals stark contrasts between U.S. and Indian states regarding innovation capacity. Despite internal variations, U.S. states are generally well aligned with global innovation benchmarks. Even the states with lower scores remain within 36 points of the innovation frontier, indicating a solid foundation nationwide. This can be attributed to established innovation ecosystems, robust R&D spending, and favorable business environments that enable subnational competitiveness. This is not to say that there isn't room for growth for U.S. states, as there is still a 36-point gap between the weakest and strongest states. Rather, U.S. states are positioned to close innovation gaps when concerted innovation-centric policy is introduced. In contrast, Indian states face much wider gaps despite high potential with their demographic-dividend and knowledge-based economy, with Delhi already 38 points behind California and the differences widening as one moves down the list. The substantial DTF differences for Indian states indicate

that their innovation ecosystems are still factor driven or not at the innovative-driven stage, especially compared with the U.S. states.

Indian regions must focus on developing a robust triple helix innovation ecosystem to move closer to the frontier of innovation. California and Massachusetts have cities with many significant research institutions, attracting substantial federal funding for research. These grants go on to produce basic research, which is, in turn, used to develop products by firms located around the universities. This cycle of interaction between universities, firms, and the government has been proven to produce constant innovation and strong research ecosystems.

In California, universities such as the University of California-Berkeley and Stanford have become the center of these innovation hubs. World-renowned researchers from these universities have created some of the world's most influential technology companies, including Elon Musk, founder of the two wildly innovative firms Tesla and SpaceX. Many of these companies are headquartered in and around the San Francisco/Silicon Valley area, making it the technology and innovation hub it is today. The same can be said about Massachusetts, where universities such as MIT and Harvard have attracted billions of dollars in research funding and become the bedrock of the innovation hub that is Cambridge, Massachusetts.

To help Indian states progress toward the frontier, embracing a triple helix structure that fosters collaboration among government, academia, and industry is essential. Significant advancements can be achieved by increasing private sector investment in R&D and enhancing employment opportunities in STEM fields. State governments can play a pivotal role by incentivizing R&D in both public institutions and private enterprises, as well as in universities and innovative start-ups. While it may take more than a decade to bridge the distance to the frontier, the commitment to investing in research will yield substantial benefits. This approach will enhance innovative capacity and propel Indian regions closer to the frontier and toward a more prosperous future.

California Is an Innovation Model for All Regions

California is the most innovative state in the United States and the most innovative region in the U.S.-India SICI, setting the standard for regional innovation. But how did California get there, and what can other regions learn from its journey?

Much of California's jump into innovation stardom began with the invention of some of today's great and vital technologies in the Silicon Valley region. Silicon Valley, now a global hub of innovation and technology, had humble beginnings as an agricultural region, and its jump to an innovation powerhouse can largely be credited to Frederick Terman. Terman joined Stanford University in the early 20th century, seeking to establish it as a center for radio and communications research. He encouraged his students to launch local companies, helping to lay the groundwork for Silicon Valley's entrepreneurial culture.

After World War II, Terman set about turning Stanford into the "MIT of the West," emphasizing research in microwave electronics, securing military contracts, and making Stanford a top recipient of government research funding. In 1951, Terman founded the Stanford Industrial Park, creating a collaborative ecosystem between academia and industry.

Once California became a magnet for not just novel technology but also investment, the breadth of knowledge in the state began to grow. In 1956, William Shockley established Shockley Semiconductor Lab in Silicon Valley. However, within a year, dissatisfied engineers left to form Fairchild Semiconductor, which became a key player in the semiconductor industry. This entrepreneurial climate reshaped the American semiconductor landscape. Of the more than 30 semiconductor manufacturers founded in the United States during the 1960s, the majority were spin-offs of Fairchild Semiconductor.⁶⁸

Over the years, Silicon Valley has experienced exponential growth in high-tech jobs. From 1992 to 1999, it added over 230,000 new positions. To meet the rising demand for skilled workers, especially engineers, the United States relaxed immigration quotas for individuals with specialized training, leading to a significant influx of workers from India and China.⁶⁹

Over the past few decades, regions worldwide have attempted to replicate Silicon Valley to nurture entrepreneurship and build start-up ecosystems. However, most have struggled due to a limited understanding of how Silicon Valley functions. Silicon Valley should be viewed as an economic model, defined by key components: venture capital, human capital, university-industry collaboration, government support, industrial structure, and a network of professional services. These elements are interdependent, evolving over time to create a self-reinforcing cycle of innovation and growth. Silicon Valley's rise as a global tech hub was not the result of deliberate planning; it evolved organically from its semiconductor manufacturing roots and university research. The ecosystem's growth was driven by its core components. Stanford University, UC Berkeley, and other institutions provided both innovation and talent, while the region's risk-taking culture fostered countless start-ups. Venture capital played a crucial role by providing essential funding to fuel this growth.

Today, the growth and innovation in the Silicon Valley area has spread across the state. The Bay Area has positioned itself as a hub for electronics and tech, largely due to defense projects that attracted talent and investment to the area during World War II and the Cold War. Caltech, located just north of Los Angeles, has become a center for federally funded research in aerospace and jet propulsion.⁷⁰ Further south in San Diego, a life-sciences research cluster has emerged, claiming 60 percent of the venture capital funds directed to San Diego in 2023.⁷¹

Most important to California's success as an innovation hub has been its push to innovate even more. Other regional governments need to do the same. In the United States, regions without high-tech, research-heavy industries need to incentivize them to move or start, and states with these high-tech industries need to encourage further research and expansion while also investing in research universities, which furthers the innovation ecosystem by providing more skilled workers, both domestic and foreign born.

In India, regional governments must enhance their business ecosystems so that skilled workers can stay rather than emigrate to existing innovation hubs. In recent years, India has marketed itself as a beneficial place for multinational companies to move operations, and it needs to continue this push. Bringing large, innovative firms to the country will not only drive economic and technological growth and encourage skilled workers to stay, but also encourage new high-skilled migration.

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY CLUSTERS

The differences between science and technology (S&T) clusters in the United States and India reveal fundamental disparities in innovation capacity, research output, and institutional frameworks that significantly impact their respective national competitiveness. The analysis of World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) data for Science and Technology Cluster Ranking 2024 demonstrates striking contrasts in how these clusters function and contribute to their respective national innovation ecosystems. Table 5 illustrates the differences between the S&T clusters in both countries.

The San Jose-San Francisco cluster exemplifies U.S. innovation leadership with 7,885 PCT applications per million inhabitants. In contrast, Bengaluru, India's leading technology hub, generates 313 applications per million inhabitants. This 25-fold difference in patent intensity not only reflects a quantitative gap but also indicates fundamentally different innovation capabilities. Similarly, research output shows significant disparities, with U.S. clusters such as Boston and Washington, D.C., producing over 10,000 publications per million inhabitants, focusing on clinical medicine, biotechnology, and earth sciences. In contrast, Indian clusters generate between 700 and 1,800 publications per million inhabitants, primarily in engineering, chemistry, and technology applications.⁷²

The institutional framework driving innovation in these clusters reveals distinct models of development. U.S. clusters operate primarily through a private-sector-driven innovation model, with major technology companies such as Apple, Google, Microsoft, and Qualcomm leading patent generation. American universities such as MIT, Stanford, and the University of California-Berkeley focus predominantly on research publications, creating a clear division of roles between corporate and academic institutions. The Indian model presents a more integrated approach, wherein institutions such as the Indian Institutes of Technology play dual roles in patent generation and research publication, working alongside corporate entities such as Samsung and TVS Motors. This structural difference reflects varying approaches to innovation development and commercialization.

Sectoral specialization patterns further differentiate these clusters. U.S. clusters demonstrate clear regional specialization: San Jose-San Francisco excels in computer technology and digital communications, Boston excels in medical technology and biotechnology, Seattle excels in software development, and San Diego excels in telecommunications technology. Indian clusters show broader focus areas, with Bengaluru concentrating on computer technology and digital communications, Chennai on transport and engineering, and Delhi/Mumbai on pharmaceuticals and transport. Global rankings reflect this specialization pattern, with multiple U.S. cities ranking in the top 10 S&T clusters, while no Indian cluster ranks in the top 50, with Bengaluru standing at 56th globally.⁷³

The U.S. model for subnational innovation ecosystems features a high concentration of corporate R&D, strong intellectual property (IP) frameworks, and established venture capital ecosystems, leading to pronounced regional specialization. The Indian model, characterized by significant public institution involvement and developing IP protection systems, demonstrates a broader sectoral focus but less regional specialization. These structural differences reflect the countries' respective stages of development and suggest distinct development trajectories and policy implications for both countries.

City	Country	State	Global Rank	National Rank	PCT Applications	Scientific Articles
Chennai	India	Tamil Nadu	82	3	110	1,871
Delhi	India	Delhi	63	2	39	1,102
Bengaluru	India	Karnataka	56	1	313	1,077
Mumbai	India	Maharashtra	84	4	80	756
San Jose-San Francisco	USA	California	6	1	7,885	9,211
Boston- Cambridge	USA	Massachusetts	8	2	4,462	17,934
San Diego	USA	California	10	3	6,279	5,189
New York City	USA	New York	11	4	864	4,693
Los Angeles	USA	California	16	5	966	3,545
Washington, D.C Baltimore	USA	District of Columbia/Maryland	19	6	838	10,327
Seattle	USA	Washington	24	7	4,434	7,821
Philadelphia	USA	Pennsylvania	35	9	1,110	6,448
Chicago	USA	Illinois	37	10	822	4,524
Minneapolis	USA	Minnesota	41	11	2,420	5,425
Raleigh	USA	North Carolina	51	12	1,735	16,473
Denver	USA	Colorado	60	13	1,062	7,029
Atlanta	USA	Georgia	69	14	663	7,930
Portland	USA	Oregon	76	16	1,628	2,934
Pittsburgh	USA	Pennsylvania	79	17	1,367	11,840

 Table 5: S&T clusters in the United States and India (number of PCT applications and scientific articles, respectively, in the last five years, per million inhabitants)⁷⁴

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

United States

Knowledge Economy

If the United States wants to improve its innovation ecosystem, federal, state, and local governments must take a systemic approach to policymaking. First and foremost, the U.S. government must invest more money in research conducted in universities, government agencies, and private firms. Direct government support for critical technology R&D, such as nuclear power or AI, would incentivize highly focused research at top institutions. Additionally, making a concerted effort to provide specialized research grants to states and universities that have fewer PhD candidates and have a smaller R&D workforce can attract innovative thinkers to locations that, so far, lack an innovative environment. The U.S. government must also do more to expand STEM education for people of all ages and genders. STEM-specialized schools have been shown to increase the number of graduates pursuing STEM degrees by 50 percent.⁷⁵ Investing more in public middle and high school STEM programs could help close the gap in the STEM workforce in America.

The United States should also establish career training and retraining programs in strategically important industries, including manufacturing. To maintain its vibrant tech sector, the United States must increase manufacturing productivity by developing and adopting productivity-enhancing technology and automation, including AI and robots. New technology can close the skills gap that has emerged, and workforce training and retraining programs, such as that developed by the ARM Institute (one of America's 17 Manufacturing USA Institutes), could prepare workers to work alongside new technology. This could help prevent or remediate future job loss as technology reshapes industries.⁷⁶

Globalization

With tensions between the United States and China escalating, the United States must expand its capabilities for developing and exporting high-tech goods and services. The threat of a skills gap in these strategic sectors is growing. According to a report from the Manufacturing Institute and Deloitte, the skills gap in manufacturing will lead to 2.1 million unfilled jobs by 2030.77 Steps have already been taken to bridge this gap, such as passing the CHIPS and Science Act. which invests \$53 billion toward the fabrication, research, and development of advanced semiconductors.⁷⁸ The Biden administration has also allocated \$772 million to expand the U.S. bioeconomy's research, development, and infrastructure capabilities.⁷⁹ These programs will expand the availability of jobs in the bioeconomy, but the federal government must also incentivize individuals to fill these jobs by offering competitive wages. The United States must also attract FDI, particularly greenfield FDI, for strategic industries. The U.S. government should expand tax incentives for companies opening new, high-tech-producing firms to incentivize inward FDI. Creating targeted incentives for domestic and international companies that establish and expand high-tech export activities in the United States can make the country more competitive globally and more independent as trade tensions with China grow. Additionally, local governments should prioritize developing cluster economies, focusing on specific industrial sectors, as Silicon Valley has with technology and Cambridge, Massachusetts, has with biotechnology. These clusters will make regions more attractive to investors.

Innovation Capacity

The innovation capacity of the United States must be fostered by a concerted effort to invest in and expand policies for R&D. The United States must increase, or even double, the federal R&D tax credit from its current rate of 20 percent.⁸⁰ The United States' R&D incentives are low on an international scale, ranking 24th out of the 34 member countries in the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) plus Brazil, Russia, India, and China.⁸¹ Additionally, the U.S. government should expand the number of firms that qualify for the R&D credit for pre-profit start-ups. Only firms with gross receipts under \$5 million qualify for the credit. This limit should be raised to \$10 million to incorporate more pre-profit firms and conduct valuable research. Start-ups, including those that are pre-profit, conduct research that leads to the development of innovative technologies, so it should be easier for firms to enter the market and conduct their expensive research even while they're temporarily unprofitable.⁸²

State-level R&D credits can also incentivize research and tailor incentives to the needs of a state. Virginia offers an R&D tax credit of 20 percent to businesses conducting research in conjunction with a Virginia college or university.⁸³ These credits facilitate greater levels of industry-university collaboration, and thereby are building research networks. Louisiana also offers an R&D credit to firms conducting research in the state, with a maximum credit of 30 percent of qualified expenditures.⁸⁴

The CHIPS and Science Act has made a vital contribution to U.S. innovation cap, including \$52 billion in appropriated funds for the U.S. semiconductor industry (\$39 billion in grants and incentives and \$13 billion for R&D) in addition to \$200 billion in authorized funding for U.S. science and basic research. Concomitant with passing the CHIPS Act, Congress established a 25 percent investment credit for firms investing in semiconductor machinery and equipment.⁸⁵ The next Trump administration should go further by working with Congress to create a program that would, for five years, allow companies in a set of advanced industries to take a 25 percent tax credit on all machinery, buildings, and equipment.⁸⁶

While expanding funding for research conducted by private firms, the U.S. government must also increase funding for R&D across universities. Academic R&D spending is concentrated in a relatively small share of higher education institutions, with 131, or 3.5 percent, of all universities accounting for 75 percent of all research spending.⁸⁷ Funding provided by the federal government should be diversified to include more universities, especially in states without a leading private research university, to expand opportunities for STEM researchers in non-innovation hubs.

The U.S. business environment must be bolstered across all industries, but especially for strategically important technology industries such as advanced manufacturing. The federal government should create a manufacturing reinvestment account for small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), establishing a 401(k)-like deferred investment program for them. Firms could set aside up to \$1 million in profits on a non-tax basis and invest the money; however, the funds could only be withdrawn tax free if used for investments toward R&D, workforce training, or capital equipment.⁸⁸ Such a mechanism could allow small manufacturers to self-fund their growth, as they often find it difficult to find capital needed for investments.

Elsewhere, several U.S. states now offer innovation vouchers to assist them in purchasing services from universities and research institutions. Connecticut, Indiana, New Mexico, New

York, Rhode Island, and Tennessee, as well as the Department of Energy's Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, have adopted these vouchers to help SMEs purchase R&D assistance from qualified firms, with each voucher affording grants between \$25,000 and \$50,000 depending on the size and type of project.⁸⁹ Considering that they are successful in promoting the execution of R&D in the short and medium term, more states and federal agencies should develop innovation voucher programs.⁹⁰

Connecticut is an excellent model of what states could do to bolster their innovative capacity. Connecticut-based small manufacturers receive a manufacturing reinvestment account to invest up to \$100,000 of profits annually for five years. These accounts are 100 percent tax exempt. These investments can only be used for R&D-related spending.⁹¹ Additionally, Connecticut has developed a Manufacturing Innovation Fund (MIF), investing \$100 million in programs geared toward enhancing manufacturing growth and development. The MIF includes an incumbent worker training program (a 100 percent matching fund for workforce training programs), Technology Awareness and Adoption Programs (the programs provide education and demonstration for advanced manufacturing technologies at no cost to manufacturers), and a Manufacturing Voucher Program (grants of up to \$49,000 are awarded to applicants for the purchase of specialized equipment and expertise).⁹² The programs included in the MIF represent an excellent model of how manufacturing innovation should be undertaken to produce competitive firms in key industries.

India

Knowledge Economy

Improving India's knowledge economy at the subnational level requires a holistic approach that considers the various factors driving innovation and productivity. Knowledge workers play a crucial role in this process and represent contributions from public and private sectors, ranging from state-funded R&D institutions to industry-led skill development initiatives. Analysis reveals that there is a need to increase the share of employment in R&D, participation in STEM jobs, and female enrollment in higher education. However, when policymakers address regional disparities, they need to understand that these parameters represent interconnected drivers of the knowledge economy, and focusing on one will not lead to significant improvements if factors are considered in isolation. Enhancing these indicators is essential for Indian states to bridge the gap and become more competitive with the leading states in the United States.

Globalization

Since 2014, India has become increasingly integrated with the global economy, largely driven by its high share of exports and substantial FDI inflows, which have reached an impressive cumulative total of \$667.4 billion (2014–2024). This reflects a remarkable increase of 119 percent compared with the previous decade (2004–2014). The investment covers 31 states and spans 57 sectors, acting as a strong catalyst for growth across various industries. Most sectors are open to 100 percent FDI under the automatic route, creating a welcoming environment for international investors. Additionally, FDI equity inflows into the manufacturing sector have significantly increased over the past decade (2014–2024), reaching \$165.1 billion. This represents a 69 percent rise over the previous decade (2004–2014), which recorded inflows of \$97.7 billion. These developments have positioned Indian states as a vibrant landscape for investment and innovation, paving the way for a prosperous future.⁹³

Our analysis emphasizes the promising potential for greater integration into the global economy among various states. However, it is important to note that Maharashtra, Karnataka, Delhi, Gujarat, and Haryana collectively accounted for 87 percent of the FDI inflows. This concentration highlights the disparities in regional development and indicates significant implications for the country's overall innovative competitiveness. Enhancing the capacity of less-developed states to engage in globalization can lead to significant benefits. By implementing strategic initiatives focused on fostering innovation, improving infrastructure, and facilitating access to funding and technology transfer, all states can contribute to India's overall competitiveness.

Innovative Capacity

To boost innovation, Indian states should increase the private sector's R&D intensity. R&D intensity is a critical driver of innovative capacity at subnational levels, directly influencing a region's ability to generate new ideas, technologies, and competitive industries. For instance, when one looks at India's R&D expenditure, it is currently at just 0.7 percent of GDP and falls significantly short of that of the leading global economies. Moreover, the government, including the higher education sector, drives 59 percent of R&D expenditure, while the private sector's contribution remains low. In contrast, developed economies such as the United States see over 70 percent of their R&D funded by business enterprises.⁹⁴ These trends are reflected at the subnational level in India.

In contrast, innovation hubs such as California and Massachusetts stand out for their high and consistent R&D investments, mainly driven by private-sector involvement and partnerships with universities. In the United States, private-sector firms contribute significantly to R&D, especially in regions such as Boston (biotechnology) and Silicon Valley (technology). These regions demonstrate how private investment accelerates innovation. Indian states can adopt incentive structures, such as tax benefits or grants, to stimulate private R&D investment, learning from the United States' model of public-private collaboration. Therefore, Indian states must prioritize increasing R&D investment by using diverse funding sources, such as venture capital funds, public-private partnerships, and international collaboration with the United States.

Additionally, they should strengthen the Triple Helix Model to promote knowledge-based innovation, particularly in tier 2 and tier 3 regions where science and technology clusters are still underdeveloped. The Triple Helix Model encourages collaboration between universities, industries, and government to drive R&D. Key to this strategy is promoting technology transfer and joint research projects and enhancing the role of universities as local innovation drivers. Indian states can learn from successful models in Massachusetts and California, such as MIT's collaborations with start-ups and the Stanford-Silicon Valley ecosystem. However, the Triple Helix Model is not a one-size-fits-all solution. It requires understanding that regions typically achieve breakthroughs in one dimension—university, government, or industry—before promoting the others. In India, innovation is often perceived as government led, and the government can establish regional centers through a statist model. The effectiveness of the Triple Helix Model in the Indian context must consider the model's origins in the United States, where entrepreneurs shape innovation systems. Indian states must, therefore, design and implement collaboration and coordination mechanisms that fit their unique conditions and economic environments, especially in tier 2 and 3 regions.

U.S.-India Cooperation on Enhancing Innovation Capabilities

The U.S.-India partnership has not just emerged; over the recent years, it has strategically positioned itself as a pivotal driver of innovation-led development, especially in critical and emerging technologies. This collaboration spans multiple sectors, with both nations leveraging their comparative advantages to address global challenges, strengthen supply chains, and foster technological breakthroughs.

Over the last few years, the foundation of this partnership has lain in strategic agreements and initiatives that span semiconductors to clean energy, framed by mutual recognition of the importance of a resilient, secure, and sustainable global ecosystem. A key area of focus is the semiconductor industry, where both nations aim to build a robust supply chain and enhance manufacturing capacities. India's recent policy initiatives, including customs duty exemptions and mining auctions for critical minerals, align with U.S. efforts to diversify and secure global semiconductor supply chains. The India Semiconductor Mission exemplifies this synergy in partnership with the U.S. Department of State's International Technology Security and Innovation (ITSI) Fund under the CHIPS Act.⁹⁵ Together, they aim to enhance India's role in the semiconductor value chain through comprehensive ecosystem assessments that identify regulatory gaps, infrastructure needs, and workforce development opportunities.

The scope of this partnership extends beyond semiconductors. The U.S.-India Initiative on Critical and Emerging Technology (ICET), unveiled in 2023 by Prime Minister Modi and President Biden, serves as a roadmap for collaboration across several high-tech areas, including AI, quantum computing, and next-generation telecommunications. Both countries recognize the importance of fostering innovation ecosystems, as highlighted by signing a Memorandum of Understanding for the "Innovation Handshake" in November 2023. The India-U.S. Innovation Handshake will connect the two countries by encouraging collaboration between start-ups, venture capitalists, and private sector firms, particularly in critical and emerging technologies.⁹⁶

The U.S.-India partnership has seen substantial progress in R&D collaboration between the two nations. The U.S.-India Global Challenges Institute was launched in September 2024, with over \$90 million in funding to support high-impact research collaborations between American and Indian universities and institutions. Key focus areas include semiconductors, next-generation telecommunications, sustainability, green technologies, and intelligent transportation systems.⁹⁷

Furthermore, the collaboration between the National Science Foundation (NSF) and India's Department of Science and Technology has resulted in joint research funding for projects in next-generation telecommunications, machine learning, and green technologies. Together, they have allocated \$5 million for joint projects, while another \$10 million has been earmarked for research in semiconductors, AI, and other critical technologies. NSF has also partnered with India's Department of Biotechnology to launch a collaborative research initiative tackling challenges in synthetic biology, computational biology, and biomanufacturing.⁹⁸

The Renewable Energy Technology Action Platform (RETAP) was launched in August 2023 and exemplified a joint effort to innovate in renewable energy technologies such as

hydrogen, offshore wind, and long-duration energy storage. This initiative reflects a commitment and a shared dedication to building sustainable and resilient energy supply chains. The U.S.-India Roadmap to Build Safe and Secure Global Clean Energy Supply Chains, launched in 2024, is further accelerating clean energy manufacturing in both nations. Clean energy remains a focal point, with the two countries launching a National Center for Hydrogen Safety and deepening their collaboration on hydrogen and energy storage technologies. Through these efforts, both nations aim to enhance their clean energy manufacturing capabilities and secure global supply chains for renewable energy components.⁹⁹

CONCLUSION

Developing a strong innovation ecosystem is the key to success for any country seeking sustained and prosperous development in this century. This report analyzed 13 indicators that help to assess subnational competitiveness in the innovation economy. By understanding this index, policymakers can learn what specific policies should be undertaken to encourage innovation in all regions of the country. Prioritizing advancements in STEM, education, and research are key ways innovation can thrive and technology can advance.

America's innovative landscape experienced rapid growth in the late 20th century, fueled by significant scientific discoveries, supportive legislation such as the Bayh-Dole Act, and extensive public funding. The U.S. Triple Helix Model was characterized by robust collaboration among academia, industry, and government and promoted innovation. The geographic concentration of biotech companies, particularly in Boston, San Diego, and Research Triangle Park, accelerated further growth. Critical lessons for India include establishing policies that promote technology transfer, the promotion of entrepreneurship, the increase in government investment in advanced research, and strengthening relationships between academia, industry, and government. To establish a flourishing ecosystem and stimulate economic development and innovation, India must make concerted efforts to implement innovation-forward policies.

For India, the priority lies in strengthening the innovative ecosystem at the subnational level by increasing R&D expenditures by the private sector, enhancing R&D intensity and patent intensity, investing in STEM education and workforce, and expanding beyond existing specialized regional innovation hubs such as Delhi, Karnataka, and Tamil Nadu. India must overcome regional disparities in innovative ecosystems to fully harness its demographic dividend and grassroots innovators, propelling the country toward a developed economy by 2047. On the other hand, the United States faces various challenges, including maintaining its leadership in specialized innovative ecosystems such as semiconductors, biomanufacturing technology, and the sustainability paradigm while fostering corporate-academic research partnerships and sustaining its knowledge-based economy. The stark differences in subnational innovation intensity, research output, institutional frameworks, and global competitiveness underscore the varying stages of innovation ecosystem development between the two countries.

Indian states can learn from U.S. states by adopting strategies that encourage regional specialization and collaboration between government, private industry, and academia (i.e., the Triple Helix Model for development). Innovative, leading states such as California, Massachusetts, and Washington have excelled by creating ecosystems that foster innovation

through targeted support for key industries, strong research institutions, and an emphasis on an entrepreneurship-based model. Indian states can similarly leverage their unique strengths— whether in IT, manufacturing, or agriculture—while investing in skill development and fostering partnerships between universities and the private sector in collaboration with U.S. educational institutions and companies. This could enable a more decentralized yet cohesive approach to driving innovation and economic growth across the country.

U.S. states can leverage their new, collaborative relationship with India to regain leadership in critical and emerging technologies. Cooperative research initiatives between the United States and India launched through the Innovation Handshake and funded with the CHIPS and Science Act will close the research gap between the United States and China while fostering information sharing between high-impact start-up firms in the United States and India. Joint efforts by both countries in semiconductors, clean energy, telecommunications, and more guarantee that supply chains are secure and diversified, a key step toward advancing both the United States' and India's roles in these industries on a global scale.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Composite and Category Scores Methodology

Since each indicator is measured using a different unit with large variations in scale, indicator values were converted to a standardized score with a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one. Indicator data was normalized using either GDP or population to enable relative state comparison.

We modified all the indicators in the final set such that a greater value corresponds to a higher score for the state or province. Therefore, we applied transformations to ensure a positive impact. We did not invert any indicators during the index assessment.

To determine the compatibility of each indicator, an exploratory factor analysis was undertaken to test the underlying factors among the set of selected indicators in each category. Cronbach's alpha was then calculated to measure internal consistency. The alpha value is expressed as a number between 0 and 1, where an alpha value above 0.7 for any logical grouping of variables indicates consistency and guarantees validity.¹⁰⁰ Cronbach's alpha, α , can be defined as:

$$\alpha = \frac{k \, x \, \bar{c}}{\bar{v} + (k-1)\bar{c}}$$

Wherein k denotes the number of scale indicators, \bar{c} denotes the average of all covariances between indicators, and \bar{v} denotes the average variance of each indicator.

The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy evaluates the goodness of fit after calculating each pillar. The KMO index ranges from 0 to 1, where a KMO score over 0.5 indicates validity.¹⁰¹ Table 6 displays the results of this analysis. The alpha and KMO score for all pillars is above the set standards.

Pillar	Alpha	КМО	
Knowledge Economy	0.86	0.74	
Innovative Capacity	0.88	0.76	
Globalization	0.81	0.71	

Table 6: Cronbach's alpha and KMO scores of three categories

The Principal Component Analysis (PCA) calculates the weights of indicators within a pillar and the overall index score. PCA is a statistical technique that reduces the number of variables in an analysis by describing a series of uncorrelated linear combinations of the variables that contain the most variance. Indicator weights can be found in table 8.

The last step in determining the pillar score involves transforming the values to a 0-to-100 scale. In addition to using regional indicator data, scores are calculated using the best and worst scenario data, which are the best- and worst-case values from the dataset or adopted from the subnational data.

Normalized Pillar Score =
$$\Sigma$$
 (wi × indicator)

Here, wi denotes the weightage of each indicator.

This method enhances comparability and comprehensiveness across the dataset. We use the following formula for the calculation:

Xj represents the raw pillar values.

The overall index score is calculated as a weighted sum of the category scores. Each dimension's contribution to the overall index will be based on both the PCA-derived dimension weights and an additional set of external weightings reflecting its relative importance.

Each dimension score is calculated as a weighted sum of its normalized pillar scores:

Dimension Score = \sum (Normalized Pillar Score × Pillar Weight from PCA)

The overall index is then calculated as a weighted sum of the dimension scores using the external weightings shown in table 7.

 Table 7: Dimension weights in the overall index

Dimension	Weight
Knowledge Economy	0.495
Globalization	0.126
Innovation Capacity	0.496

 $Index Score = (Knowledge Economy Score \times 0.4432) + (Globalization Score \times 0.1125)$ $+ (Innovation Capacity Score \times 0.4442)$

Appendix B: Indicator Methodologies and Weights Table 8: U.S.-India SICI Indicator Information

Table 8	B: U.S.	-India	SICI	Indicator	Informati
10010		mana	0.01	maioator	mornau

Indicator	Weight	Year	Description	Category
Doctoral Degree Recipients	0.152	2022	Total number of research doctorate recipients	Knowledge Economy
Employment in R&D Activities	0.244	2021–22	Share of workers employed in R&D activities	Knowledge Economy
Employment in STEM Occupation	0.240	2021	Share of workers employed in STEM activities	Knowledge Economy
Female Educational Attainment	0.240	2023	Share of females enrolled in higher educational degree programs	Knowledge Economy
Manufacturing Labor Productivity	0.251	2020–21	Labor productivity in manufacturing measured as GVA per employee (U.S. dollars per worker, PPP converted)	Knowledge Economy
Quality of Universities	0.084	2023	Share of Top 100 national universities	Knowledge Economy
High-tech Exports	0.050	2021–22	High-tech exports (NAICS 333-335, and equivalent) as a share of GDP	Globalization
Inward FDI	0.050	2017–23	Inward FDI flows as a share of GDP	Globalization
Active Businesses	0.267	2022	Number of active companies per million inhabitants	Innovation Capacity
Business Creation	0.217	2023	New business applications as a share of GDP	Innovation Capacity
Internet Access	0.253	2021–22	Percentage of households with access to Internet	Innovation Capacity

Indicator	Weight	Year	Description	Category
Patent Applications	0.226	2015, 2021	PCT patent applications per million inhabitants	Innovation Capacity
R&D Intensity	0.243	2021	R&D expenditures as a share of GDP	Innovation Capacity

About the Authors

Amit Kapoor, PhD, is honorary chairman at the Institute for Competitiveness in India. He is an affiliate faculty member at Harvard Business School's Institute of Strategy and Competitiveness, where he teaches courses on the Microeconomics of Competitiveness and Value-Based Health Care Delivery. He is also an instructor with Harvard Business Publishing in the area of Strategy, Competitiveness, and Business Models, and a lecturer at Stanford University, where he teaches courses on Reimagining Capitalism, Innovation and Competitiveness, and Understanding Modern India.

Stephen Ezell is vice president for global innovation policy at ITIF and director of ITIF's Center for Life Sciences Innovation. He also leads the Global Trade and Innovation Policy Alliance.

Meghan Ostertag is a research assistant for ITIF's global innovation policy team.

Sheen Zutshi is a research manager at IFC.

About the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation

The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) is an independent 501(c)(3) nonprofit, nonpartisan research and educational institute that has been recognized repeatedly as the world's leading think tank for science and technology policy. Its mission is to formulate, evaluate, and promote policy solutions that accelerate innovation and boost productivity to spur growth, opportunity, and progress. For more information, visit itif.org/about.

About the Institute for Competitiveness

Institute for Competitiveness, India is the Indian knot in the global network of the Institute for Strategy and Competitiveness at Harvard Business School. It is an international initiative centered in India, dedicated to enlarging and purposeful disseminating of the body of research and knowledge on competition and strategy, as pioneered over the last 35 years by Professor Michael Porter of the Institute for Strategy and Competitiveness at Harvard Business School. Institute for Competitiveness, India conducts and supports Indigenous research; offers academic and executive courses; provides advisory services to the corporates and governments; and organizes events. The institute studies competition and its implications for company strategy; the competitiveness of nations, regions, and cities (and thus generates guidelines for businesses and those in governance); and suggests and provides solutions for socioeconomic problems. For more information, visit competitiveness.in.

ENDNOTES

- 1. The Global Trade and Innovation Policy Alliance, "About," https://gtipa.org/.
- 2. "IMF Sees India Driving Growth in Asia-Pacific Region," *The Economic Times*, November 2, 2024, https://cfo.economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/economy/imf-sees-india-driving-growth-in-asia-pacific-region/114881240.
- 3. World Bank Group, GDP current US\$ data (World Bank national accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files), accessed October 16, 2024, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD.
- 4. Stephen Ezell, "Assessing India's Readiness to Assume a Greater Role in Global Semiconductor Value Chains" (ITIF, February 2024), https://itif.org/publications/2024/02/14/india-semiconductor-readiness/; "India Releases Updated Higher Education Statistics," *British Council*, July 3, 2024, https://opportunities-insight.britishcouncil.org/news/news/india-releases-updated-higher-education-statistics.
- 5. "Competitiveness Roadmap for India@100" (India: Institute for Competitiveness, August 24, 2022), https://competitiveness.in/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Report_Competitiveness_Roadmap-25_August_2022_Web_Version.pdf.
- 6. Ellen Glover, "41 Technology Companies in India to Know," *Built In*, September 20, 2024, https://builtin.com/articles/technology-companies-in-india.
- 7. James Hsiao and Royston C. Tan, "Foreign Direct Investment Reviews 2024: India" (White & Case, 2024), https://www.whitecase.com/insight-our-thinking/foreign-direct-investment-reviews-2024-india.
- 8. World Intellectual Property Organization, "GII 2024 Ranks" (Geneva, Switzerland:, 2024), https://www.wipo.int/gii-ranking/en/rank.
- 9. Amit Kapoor and Neeraj Sinha, *India Innovation Index* (Institute for Competitiveness (IFC) and NITI Aayog, 2021), https://www.niti.gov.in/sites/default/files/2022-07/India-Innovation-Index-2021-Web-Version_21_7_22.pdf.
- 10. Robert D. Atkinson and Caleb Foote, "The 2020 State New Economy Index, Benchmarking Economic Transformation in the States" (ITIF, Updated March 2021), https://www2.itif.org/2020-state-new-economy-index.pdf.
- 11. Authors' calculations. For further information please see our methodology in the Appendices section.
- 12. Directorate-General for Research and Innovation, "European Innovation Scoreboard," https://research-and-innovation.ec.europa.eu/statistics/performance-indicators/european-innovationscoreboard_en.
- 13. Authors' calculation. For further information please see our methodology in the Appendices section.
- 14. Ministry of Statistics and & Programme Implementation (MoSPI), "State-wise Data on Per Capita Income" (Delhi, India: MoSPI, July 2023), https://www.pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1942055.
- 15. Bureau of Economic Analysis, GDP and Personal Income (State annual gross domestic product (GDP) summary), accessed October 2024, https://apps.bea.gov/itable/?ReqID=70&step; U.S. Census Bureau (State Population Totals and Components of Change: 2020-2023), accessed October 2024, https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/popest/2020s-state-total.html; Authors' calculations.
- 16. Authors' calculations. The equation: Overall Index score = 8.06594 * In(GDP per capita) + (-49.1644) reveals a positive relationship between GDP per capita and the overall Index score. The model explains approximately 85.68 percent of the variance in overall Index scores, as indicated by an R2 of 0.8568. The slope coefficient (8.06594) indicates that for every 1 percent increase in GDP

per capita, the index score increases by 8.07 points, demonstrating that states with higher per capita incomes tend to perform higher on the Index.

- 17. Mark Fiegner and Karen Hamrick, Doctorate Recipients from U.S. Universities (National Science Foundation, 2018), https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/2018/nsf18304/report/why-is-this-important.cfm.
- National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES), "State or location of doctorate institution ranked by number of research doctorate recipients, by field of doctorate and sex: 2022,"), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsf24300/table/7-6; Department of Higher Education, *All India Survey on Higher Education (AISHE) 2021-22* (New Delhi, India: Department of Higher Education, 2023), https://cdnbbsr.s3waas.gov.in/s392049debbe566ca5782a3045cf300a3c/uploads/2024/02/202407 19952688509.pdf.
- 19. S.A. Camarota and K. Zeigler, "Immigrants in U.S. Doctoral Programs. Center for Immigration Studies" (2023), https://cis.org/Report/Immigrants-US-Doctoral-Programs.
- 20. Ibid.
- 21. "Why STEM?" University of Texas at Austin STEM Starts, accessed October 16, 2024, https://stemstarts.utexas.edu/why-stem-matters/.
- 22. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES) (Geographic Distribution of the STEM Workforce), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsb20245/geographic-distribution-of-the-stem-workforce; Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI), "Periodic Labour Force Surveys" (India: MoSPI, 2024), https://www.mospi.gov.in/Periodic-Labour-Surveys.
- 23. Shreya Mitra, "Women and STEM: The Inexplicable Gap Between Education and Workforce Participation" (Observer Research Foundation, November 1, 2024), https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/women-and-stem-the-inexplicable-gap-between-education-and-workforce-participation/.
- 24. U.S. Economic Development Administration, "U.S. Department of Commerce Invests Approximately \$44 Million to Establish Biofabrication Cluster in Southern New Hampshire Through Regional Challenge," news release, September 2, 2022, https://www.eda.gov/news/pressrelease/2022/09/02/us-department-commerce-invests-approximately-44-million-establish.
- 25. Ibid.
- 26. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (Labor Productivity and Cost Measures), accessed September 2024, https://www.bls.gov/productivity/tables/.
- Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (Labor productivity by main economic activity – Regions), accessed September 2024, https://dataexplorer.oecd.org/vis?tm=regional%20gross%20value%20added%20per%20worker&pg=0&snb=5&df [ds]=dsDisseminateFinalDMZ&df[id]=DSD_REG_ECO%40DF_LPR&df[ag]=OECD.CFE.EDS&df[vs]=2. 0&dq=A.CTRY%2BTL2...LAB_PROD.C.Q.USD_PPP_WR&lom=LASTNPERIODS&lo=5&to[TIME_PERI OD]=false; Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI), *Annual Survey of Industries* (India: MoSPI, 2021), https://www.mospi.gov.in/annual-survey-industries.
- 28. Suyash Rai and Anirudh Burman, "Is the Make in India Initiative Working? | Mihai Varga on World Bank-Led Land Reforms in Eurasia" (Carnegie India, October 4, 2023), https://carnegieendowment.org/india/ideas-and-institutions/is-the-make-in-india-initiative-working-ormihai-varga-on-world-bank-led-land-reforms-in-eurasia?lang=en.
- 29. Ibid.
- 30. QS Top Universities "QS World University Rankings 2025: Top global universities" (accessed September 2024, https://www.topuniversities.com/world-university-rankings; National Institutional Ranking Framework (NIRF), Ministry of Education, "India Rankings 2024: Overall" (India: Ministry of Education, 2024), https://www.nirfindia.org/Rankings/2024/OverallRanking.html.

- 31. Ibid.
- 32. Association of Public & Land-Grant Universities, "How do college graduates benefit society at large?" (APLU 2022), https://www.aplu.org/our-work/4-policy-and-advocacy/publicuvalues/societal-benefits/.
- 33. Malala Fund, accessed October 16, 2024, https://malala.org/girls-education#m1v2nlo6.
- 34. U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (Age and Sex), accessed September 2024, https://data.census.gov/table/ACSST1Y2023.S0101?q=female%20population&g=010XX00US\$0400 000&moe=false&tp=false; Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI), "Periodic Labour Force Surveys" (India: MoSPI, 2024), https://www.mospi.gov.in/Periodic-Labour-Surveys.
- 35. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), "College Enrollment Rates" (NCES, May 2024), https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cpb/college-enrollment-rate.
- 36. Ibid.
- 37. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES) (Domestic Employment and R&D employment, by state: 2021), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/surveys/business-enterprise-research-development/2021#data; Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI), "Periodic Labour Force Surveys" (India: MoSPI, 2024), https://www.mospi.gov.in/Periodic-Labour-Surveys.
- 38. Ibid.
- 39. Council for Aid to Education, "Essential Skills Are in Demand, but Lacking" (accessed September 2024, https://cae.org/evidence/.
- 40. Ali Quazi and Majharul Talukder, "Demographic determinants of adoption of technological innovation" *Journal of Computer Information Systems* (March 2011), 3846, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285705399_Demographic_determinants_of_adoption_of_te chnological_innovation.
- 41. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (Bachelor's Degree Holders in the Labor Force), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/indicators/states/indicator/bachelors-degree-holders-in-labor-force; Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI), "Periodic Labour Force Surveys" (India: MoSPI, 2021), https://www.mospi.gov.in/Periodic-Labour-Surveys.
- 42. U.S. Census Bureau, USA Trade (State Exports by NAICS Commodities), accessed September 2024, https://usatrade.census.gov/data/Perspective60/Dim/dimension.aspx?ReportId=6542; Directorate General of Commercial Intelligence and Statistics (DGCI&S) (Kolkata, India: DGCI&S, 2024), https://www.dgciskol.gov.in/.
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. Khampe Phoungthong, et al., "Does FDI foster technological innovations? Empirical evidence from BRICS economies" (NLM, March 2023), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9997950/.
- 45. Bureau of Economic Analysis, International Data (Data on new foreign direct investment in the United States), accessed September 2024, https://apps.bea.gov/iTable/; Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIT), "FDI Statistics" (India: DPIIT, 2023), https://dpiit.gov.in/publications/fdi-statistics.
- 46. Adis Maria Vila, "The Role of States in Attracting Foreign Direct Investment: A Case Study of Florida, South Carolina, Indiana, and Pennsylvania" *Law and Business Review of the Americas* Vol. 16, No. 2 (2010), https://scholar.smu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1454&context=lbra.
- 47. Mark Arend, "'Strategically, the Right Location'" (Team Kentucky, Cabinet for Economic Development, 2024), https://siteselection.com/strategically-the-right-location/.
- 48. Bureau of Economic Analysis, International Data (Data on new foreign direct investment in the United States), accessed September 2024, https://apps.bea.gov/iTable/; Department for Promotion of

Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIT), "FDI Statistics" (India: DPIIT, 2023), https://dpiit.gov.in/publications/fdi-statistics.

- 49. Danielle Nelson, "Digital Connectivity: The Benefits of Inclusive Internet Access" (U.S. Global Leadership Coalition, August 2022), https://www.usglc.org/blog/digital-connectivity-the-benefits-of-inclusive-internet-access/.
- 50. U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey (Presence and Types of Internet Subscriptions in Household), accessed September 2024, https://data.census.gov/table/ACSDT1Y2022.B28002?q=internet%20access&g=010XX00US\$04000 00; Government of India, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, *National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), 2019-21* (Deonar, Mumbai, India: International Institute for Population Sciences, March 2022), https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR375/FR375.pdf.
- 51. Ibid.
- 52. U.S. Census Bureau, Business Formation Statistics (Business Applications by County, accessed September 2024, https://www.census.gov/econ/bfs/data/county.html; Government of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), *Annual Report 2023-24* (India: MCA, 2024), https://www.mca.gov.in/bin/dms/getdocument?mds=fdan90KaZ%252FC3duat3SwOwQ%253D%253 D&type=open.
- 53. Ibid.
- 54. U.S. Census Bureau, County Business Patterns (All Sectors: County Business Patterns, including ZIP Code Business Patterns, by Legal Form of Organization and Employment Size Class for the U.S., States, and Selected Geographies: 2022), accessed September 2024, https://data.census.gov/table/CBP2022.CB2200CBP?q=CBP2022.CB2200CBP&g=010XX00US\$04 00000&nkd=EMPSZES~001,LFO~001; U.S. Census, State Population Totals and Components of Change: 2020-2023 (Population Estimates, Population Change, and Components of Change), accessed September 2024, https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/popest/2020s-state-total.html; Government of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), *Annual Report 2023-24* (India: MCA, 2024), https://www.census.gov/acta/tables/time-series/demo/p0/2252D8(252)

https://www.mca.gov.in/bin/dms/getdocument?mds=fdan90KaZ%252FC3duat3SwOwQ%253D%253 D&type=open.

- 55. Ibid.
- 56. Dikshu C. Kukreja, et al., "India's Patent Surge: A Sign of Growing Innovation Ecosystem" (India Brand Equity Foundation, September 2024), https://www.ibef.org/blogs/india-s-patent-surge-a-sign-of-growing-innovation-ecosystem.
- 57. OECD iLibrary, OECD Patent Statistics (Patents by Regions, accessed September 2024, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/science-and-technology/data/oecd-patent-statistics/patents-by-regions_data-00509-en; The Office of the Controller General of Patents, Designs, Trademarks and Geographical Indications (CGPDTM), *Annual Report 2022-23* (India: Office of CGPDTM, 2024), https://ipindia.gov.in/writereaddata/Portal/IPOAnnualReport/1_114_1_ANNUAL_REPORT_202223_E nglish.pdf.
- Hortencia Rodriguez, et al., "The Development of Boston's Innovation District: A Case Study of Cross-Sector Collaboration and Public Entrepreneurship" (The Intersector Project, 2015), https://intersector.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/The-Development-of-Bostons-Innovation-District.pdf.
- 59. Ibid.
- 60. Bruce Katz and Julie Wagner, "The Rise of Innovation Districts: A New Geography of Innovation in America" (Brookings Institute, May 2014), https://www.brookings.edu/articles/rise-of-innovation-districts/.

- 61. OECD iLibrary, OECD Patent Statistics (Patents by Regions, accessed September 2024, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/science-and-technology/data/oecd-patent-statistics/patents-by-regions_data-00509-en; The Office of the Controller General of Patents, Designs, Trademarks and Geographical Indications (CGPDTM), *Annual Report 2022-23* (India: Office of CGPDTM, 2024), https://ipindia.gov.in/writereaddata/Portal/IPOAnnualReport/1_114_1_ANNUAL_REPORT_202223_E nglish.pdf.
- 62. Brown H. Hall, Jacques Mairesse, and Pierre Mohnen, "Measuring the Returns to R&D," NBER Working Paper Series, No. 15622 (December 2009), https://www.nber.org/papers/w15622.
- 63. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (R&D as a Percentage of Gross Domestic Product), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/indicators/states/indicator/rd-performanceto-state-gdp; Department of Science & Technology, Ministry of Science & Technology, "S&T Indicators Tables" (New Delhi, India: Department of Science & Technology, March 2023), https://dst.gov.in/sites/default/files/Updated%20ST%20INDICATORS%20TABLES%202022-23.pdf.
- 64. National Science Foundation, "New Report Shows That Business R&D Funding Dominates the U.S. R&D Enterprise," news release, May 21, 2024, https://www.nsf.gov/nsb/news/news_summ.jsp?cntn_id=309719.
- 65. "Emerging New Mexico Technology," New Mexico Partnership, New Mexico Economic Development Department, https://nmpartnership.com/new-mexico-major-industries/emerging-technologies/.
- 66. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (R&D as a Percentage of Gross Domestic Product), accessed September 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/indicators/states/indicator/rd-performanceto-state-gdp; Department of Science & Technology, Ministry of Science & Technology, "S&T Indicators Tables" (New Delhi, India: Department of Science & Technology, March 2023), https://dst.gov.in/sites/default/files/Updated%20ST%20INDICATORS%20TABLES%202022-23.pdf.
- 67. U.S. Energy Information Administration, Environment (Carbon intensity of the economy by state), accessed September 2024, https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/state/.
- 68. "Fairchildren" (Computer History Museum (CHM), Mountain View, California, 2024), https://computerhistory.org/fairchildren/#1960s.
- 69. Michael Aaron Dennis, "Explosive Growth in Silicon Valley" (Britannica, October 2024), https://www.britannica.com/place/Silicon-Valley-region-California/Explosive-growth.
- 70. Jennifer N. Dienst, "From North to South, What Makes California a Hub for Innovation" (PMCA, November 2022), https://www.pcma.org/what-makes-california-innovation-hub/.
- 71. "About the Region," San Diego Regional EDC (2024), https://www.sandiegobusiness.org/about-the-region/.
- 72. World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), "Science and Technology Cluster Ranking 2024" (Geneva, Switzerland: WIPO, April 2024), https://www.wipo.int/web/global-innovation-index/2024/science-technology-clusters.
- 73. Ibid.
- 74. Ibid
- 75. "Specialized STEM Secondary Schools" (Successful STEM Education, Waltham, Massachusetts, 2022), https://successfulstemeducation.org/resources/specialized-stem-secondary-schools.
- 76. "Empowering the Workforce of Today & Building the Workforce of the Future" (ARM Institute, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 2024), https://arminstitute.org/our-work/workforce-development-services/.
- 77. "2.1 Million Manufacturing Jobs Could Go Unfilled by 2030" (The Manufacturing Institute (Washington, D.C., 2021), https://themanufacturinginstitute.org/2-1-million-manufacturing-jobs-could-go-unfilled-by-2030-11330/.

- 78. "FACT SHEET: Two Years after the CHIPS and Science Act, Biden-Harris Administration Celebrates Historic Achievements in Bringing Semiconductor Supply Chains Home, Creating Jobs, Supporting Innovation, and Protecting National Security" (The White House, Washington, D.C., 2024), https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2024/08/09/fact-sheet-two-years-afterthe-chips-and-science-act-biden-%E2%81%AOharris-administration-celebrates-historicachievements-in-bringing-semiconductor-supply-chains-home-creating-jobs-supporting-inn/.
- 79. U.S. Department of Agriculture, "Bioeconomy," news release, September 12, 2024, https://www.usda.gov/topics/biotechnology/bioeconomy.
- 80. Janet Berry-Johnson, "A Simple Guide to the R&D Tax Credit," *Bench*, January 9, 2023, https://www.bench.co/blog/tax-tips/rd-tax-credit.
- 81. John Lester and Jacek Warda, "Enhanced Tax Incentives for R&D Would Make Americans Richer" (ITIF, September 2020), https://www2.itif.org/2020-enhanced-tax-incentives-rd.pdf.
- 82. Joe Kennedy, "ITIF Supports Legislation to Boost the R&D Tax Credit for Start-Ups" (ITIF, July 2019), https://itif.org/publications/2019/07/24/itif-supports-legislation-boost-rd-tax-credit-start-ups/.
- 83. "Virginia R&D Tax Credits," Strike Tax Advisory, 2024, https://www.striketax.com/usa-tax-credit/virginia-r-d-tax-credits.
- 84. "Louisiana R&D Tax Credits," Strike Tax Advisory, 2024, https://www.striketax.com/usa-taxcredit/louisiana-r-d-tax-credits.
- 85. U.S. Department of the Treasury, "U.S. Department of the Treasury Releases Final Rules to Strengthen U.S. Semiconductor Industry," news release, October 22, 2024, https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy2664.
- 86. Robert D. Atkinson et al., "A Techno-Economic Agenda for the Next Administration" (ITIF, June 2024), https://itif.org/publications/2024/06/10/a-techno-economic-agenda-for-the-next-administration/.
- 87. National Center for Science and Engineering Statistics (NCSES), "Academic Research and Development" (accessed October 2024, https://ncses.nsf.gov/pubs/nsb202326/funding-sources-of-academic-r-d.
- 88. Stephen Ezell and Robert D. Atkinson, "Fifty Ways to Leave Your Competitiveness Woes Behind: A National Traded Sector Competitiveness Strategy" (ITIF, September 2012), https://itif.org/publications/2012/09/20/fifty-ways-leave-your-competitiveness-woes-behind-national-traded-sector.
- 89. DOE, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, "Small Business Voucher Pilot Program" (Washington, D.C.: DOE), https://www.energy.gov/eere/solar/small-business-voucher-pilot-program.
- 90. Marco Kleine, et al., "Subsidized R&D Collaboration: The Causal Effect of Innovation Vouchers on Innovation Performance," *Max Planck Institute for Innovation & Competition Research Paper*, no. 20-11 (July 15, 2020), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3648126.
- 91. "16-155, Additions Manufacturing Reinvestment Accounts," CCH AnswerConnect, https://answerconnect.cch.com/document/jct012213e3667b5a1000a2e7002264f3fce801/state/exp lanations/connecticut/additions-manufacturing-reinvestment-accounts.
- 92. "Manufacturing Innovation Fund: 2021," Connecticut: Manufacturing Innovation Fund, Advancing Manufacturing Faster, 2021.
- 93. Government of India, Ministry of Commerce & Industry, "Make in India Celebrates 10 Years: A Decade of Transformational Growth" news release, September 25, 2024, https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=2058603.
- 94. Akhilesh Gupta, et al., "Research & Development Statistics at a Glance 2022-23" (New Delhi, India: Department of Science & Technology, Government of India, 2023),

https://dst.gov.in/sites/default/files/Updated%20RD%20Statistics%20at%20a%20Glance%202022-23.pdf.

- 95. U.S. Department of State, "New Partnership with India to Explore Semiconductor Supply Chian Opportunities," news release, September 9, 2024, https://www.state.gov/new-partnership-with-india-to-explore-semiconductor-supply-chain-opportunities.
- 96. Government of India, Press Information Bureau, "Union Cabinet Approves the Memorandum of Understanding Between the United States of America and the Republic of India," news release, December 15, 2023, https://pib.gov.in/PressReleaseIframePage.aspx?PRID=1986854.
- 97. The White House, "Joint Fact Sheet: The United States and India Continue to Expand Comprehensive and Global Strategic Partnership," news release, September 21, 2024, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2024/09/21/joint-fact-sheet-the-united-states-and-india-continue-to-expand-comprehensive-and-global-strategic-partnership/.
- 98. Ibid.
- 99. Ibid.
- 100. Joes M. Cortina, "What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications" *Journal of Applied Psychology* Vol. 78, Issue 1 (1993): 98–104, https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.78.1.98.
- 101. Brett Williams, et al., "Exploratory Factor Analysis: A Five-Step Guide for Novices" *Australasian Journal of Paramedicine* Vol. 8 (January 2010): 1–13, https://doi.org/10.33151/ajp.8.3.93.